
 

Kelso City Council Agenda 
Regular Meeting, 6:00 pm 

March 1, 2016 
City Hall, Council Chambers 

203 South Pacific 
Kelso, WA  98626 

 
 

                                **Special accommodations for the handicapped and hearing impaired are available 
 by special arrangement through the City Clerk’s Office at 360-423-0900** 

 
 
 
Roll Call to Council Members: 

 
 

Invocation: 
Brian Cummings from New Song Worship Center 

  
 
1. Approve Minutes: 

1.1. February 16, 2016 – Regular Meeting 
 

 
2. Consent Items: 

 
 

3. Citizen Business: 
 

 
4. Council Business: 

4.1. Cowlitz County Public Facilities Fund Grant – 2016 Southwest Washington Regional 
Airport Projects 

4.2. Discussion – Proposed Mineral Exploratory Drilling in the Gifford Pinchot National 
Forest 

4.3. Discussion – Abandoned Shopping Carts Regulations 
4.4. Workshop – City Charter 
4.5. Discussion – 2016 Budget Goals and Actions Work Plan 

 
 

5. Action/Motion Items: 
5.1. Ordinance, 1st Reading 

5.1.1. Amending KMC 2.32 relating to the Authority to Appoint Limited Commission 
Police Officers 

5.2. Ordinance, 2nd Reading 
5.2.1. Interfund Loan to Arterial Street Fund  



 

Kelso City Council Agenda 
Regular Meeting, 6:00 pm 

March 1, 2016 
City Hall, Council Chambers 

203 South Pacific 
Kelso, WA  98626 

 
 

 
 

 
Other Items: 

• City Manager Report 
• Staff/Dept Head Reports 
• Council Reports 
• Other Business 
• Executive Session 



KELSO CITY COUNCIL                                                                    February 16, 2016 
6:00 P.M.                                                                                       REGULAR MEETING 
 
Pastor Nick Stumbo, East Hills Alliance Church, gave the invocation.  Mayor David 
Futcher led the flag salute.  The Regular Meeting of the Kelso City Council was called to 
order by Mayor Futcher.  Councilmembers in attendance were Kim Lefebvre, Larry 
Alexander, David Futcher, Nancy Malone, Jim Hill, and Todd McDaniel.  
Councilmember Rick Roberson was absent.   
  
Minutes:  Upon motion by Councilmember Lefebvre, seconded by Councilmember 
Alexander, ‘Approve the Minutes of the 2/2/16 Regular Meeting,’ motion carried, all 
voting yes. 
 
PRESENTATIONS: 
 
2015 Annual Library Report:  Library Manager Cindy Donaldson provided a 
presentation regarding the activities, events, partnerships, and patron statistics for the last 
year.   
 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting Award: City 
Manager Steve Taylor announced that the City of Kelso received the award, established 
by the Government Finance Officers Association, and presented it to Finance Director 
Brian Butterfield for his outstanding performance in reporting the City’s finances.  
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

1. Auditing of Accounts:  $2,876,117.25                    
 
Upon motion by Councilmember McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember Malone, 
‘Approve the Consent Agenda and the Auditing of Accounts in the amount of 
$2,876,117.25,’ motion carried, all voting yes. 
 
CITIZEN BUSINESS: 
 
Charlotte Persons, 2409 Bloyd St., spoke about a proposal for exploratory drilling on 
the north side of Mount St. Helens.  
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS: 
 
Interlocal Agreement with Cowlitz County for Reimbursable Work, Herbicide and 
Mechanical Vegetation Management, Striping, and Chip Seal:  Upon motion by 
Councilmember McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember Hill, ‘Approve interlocal 
agreement,’ motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
 
 



Kelso City Council                               -2-                                  2/16/16 Regular Meeting 
 
Contract with Otak, Inc. for Stormwater Low Impact Development Code and 
Manual Update: Upon motion by Councilmember Lefebvre, seconded by 
Councilmember McDaniel, ‘Approve the contract,’ motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
2016 Lodging Tax Advisory Committee Funding Request:  Upon motion by 
Councilmember McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember Lefebvre, ‘Approve the funding 
to the Chamber of Commerce in the amount of $1,111.50 for a City of Kelso ad in the 
2016 Visitor’s Guide and to the City of Kelso in the amount of $2,000 for the rent and 
leasehold/excise tax required for the WSDOT Airspace Lease for the Visitor Center.’  
Motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
MOTION ITEMS:         
 
Ordinance No. (1st Reading) – Interfund Loan to Arterial Street Fund:  The Deputy 
Clerk read the proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember 
McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember Lefebvre, ‘Pass on 1st reading, ‘AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF 
FUNDS FROM THE DEBT SERVICE FUND TO THE ARTERIAL STREET FUND 
AND PROVIDING FOR THE REPAYMENT OF SUCH LOAN.’ Discussion followed. 
Motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
Ordinance No. 16-3866 – Conservation Easement Hart’s Lake Property:  The 
Deputy Clerk read the proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by 
Councilmember Malone, seconded by Councilmember Lefebvre,  ‘Adopt Ordinance No. 
16-3866, ‘AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO GRANTING A 
CONSERVATION AND ACCESS EASEMENT OVER THE HART’S LAKE 
PROPERTY, PARCELS WI36-01-001 and 24125, TO FORTERRA NW.’ Discussion 
followed.  Motion passed, all voting yes.                  
 
Ordinance (2nd Reading) – Shopping Cart Regulations:  The Deputy Clerk read the 
proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember Lefebvre, seconded 
by Councilmember Alexander, ‘Pass on 2nd reading, ‘AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 
OF KELSO RELATING TO SHOPPING CART THEFT AND REGULATION 
AMENDING 9A.56.270 AND ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 9.62 SHOPPING CART 
CONTROL TO THE KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE.’ Lengthy discussion followed.  
Councilmembers Lefebvre, Hill, and McDaniel voted yes.  Councilmembers Futcher, 
Malone, and Alexander voted no.  Motion failed, 3 to 3.                   
 
Resolution No. 16-1151 – Renaming the Kelso Commons Park:  The Deputy Clerk 
read the proposed resolution by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember Alexander, 
seconded by Councilmember McDaniel, ‘Pass Resolution No. 16-1151, ‘A 
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF KELSO, WASHINGTON, RENAMING KELSO 
COMMONS PARK TO KELSO VETERANS PARK.’ Motion passed, all voting yes. 
 



Kelso City Council                               -3-                                  2/16/16 Regular Meeting 
 
WORKSHOP:  
 
Goals and Action Plan Update:  City Manager Taylor facilitated the annual discussion.  
A review of the 2015 Budget Goals and Actions plan followed by Council deliberation 
provided staff direction to make current a new work plan for 2016.        
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 
 
Steve Taylor:   No report. 
 
COUNCIL REPORTS: 
 
Todd McDaniel:  No report. 
 
Jim Hill:  No report. 
 
Nancy Malone:  Spoke about her ride along with the police department and a tour of the 
city with the Public Works Facility Operations Manager.   
 
Larry Alexander:  No report. 
 
Kim Lefebvre:   No report. 
 
David Futcher:   Spoke about the Port of Longview providing notice to withdraw from 
the Airport Board. 
 
At 8:07 p.m., the Mayor adjourned the regular meeting.  The Council convened into a 
closed meeting to discuss labor negotiations.  The city attorney was not present and there 
was no action taken. 
 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
                                 MAYOR 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
                            CITY CLERK 



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE: Interlocal Agreement with 
Cowlitz County for Rural Public Facilities Funds 
– Southwest Washington Regional Airport 
Projects 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager   
 
For Agenda of:  March 1, 2016   
 
Originator: Steve Taylor       
 
City Attorney:     Janean Parker  
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 

Agenda Item Attachments:    
Interlocal Agreement 
Application for Rural Public Facilites Funds 
 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
The City has entered into agreements with the engineering firm Reid Middleton, Inc., for design of 
three projects to be constructed at the Southwest Washington Regional Airport.  These are the 
perimeter fencing and gate on Talley Way, beacon replacement, and Sullivan Hangar demolition.  
 
Total costs for all three projects is estimated at $703,000.00.  We have received grant monies from 
FAA in the amount of $632,700.00 and from WSDOT Aviation in the amount of $35,150.00.    
 
In order to assist with grant matches from FAA and from WSDOT Aviation for these projects we 
applied for and were granted rural public facilities funds from Cowlitz County in the amount of 
$35,150.00.   
 
Total Funding 
FAA -   $632,700.00 
WSDOT Aviation -  $35,150.00 
County -   $35,150.00 
   $700,000.00 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
 
Move to approve the Agreement with Cowlitz County for Rural Public Facilities Funds. 





































AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE: Commenting on 
Proposed Mineral Exploration Drilling in 
Gifford Pinchot National Forest 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager  
 
For Agenda of: _____March 1, 2016_______ 
 
Originator: ________Steve Taylor________   
 
City Attorney:     Janean Parker  
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 

Agenda Item Attachments:    
Kelso Council resolution 06-923 
News articles re: current and previous efforts to conduct mineral exploration drilling in Gifford Pinchot 
National Forest 
Environmental Assessment link: https://eplanning.blm.gov/epl-front-
office/projects/nepa/52147/66795/72638/Goat_Mountain_MEA_20151217_FINAL.pdf 
 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
Councilmembers Malone and Alexander asked that Charlotte Persons be allowed time to make a 
presentation to Council regarding proposed mineral exploration efforts in the Gifford Pinchot National 
Forest near Goat Mountain north of the Mt. St. Helens National Volcanic Monument.  The Council 
approved a resolution in opposition to the proposed drilling in this area in 2006, and Ms. Persons 
would like the Council to issue a new resolution and include it as a public comment for the 
Environmental Assessment submitted by Ascot USA, the company seeking to explore for minerals in 
the area. 
 
Staff is seeking Council direction on whether to proceed with the new resolution, which would need 
to be brought forward for consideration at the March 15th meeting to meet the public comment 
deadline for the EA of March 18th. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
Provide direction to staff on whether or not to proceed with resolution regarding mineral exploration 
efforts in the Gifford Pinchot National Forest near Goat Mountain. 
 
 

https://eplanning.blm.gov/epl-front-office/projects/nepa/52147/66795/72638/Goat_Mountain_MEA_20151217_FINAL.pdf
https://eplanning.blm.gov/epl-front-office/projects/nepa/52147/66795/72638/Goat_Mountain_MEA_20151217_FINAL.pdf
















MINUTESOFTHEREGULARSESSION

OFTHELONGVIEWCITYCOUNCIL

HELDTHURSDAY, SEPTEMBER13, 2007

1.  CALLTOORDER

Themeetingwascalledtoorderat7:00p.m. byMayorWeber.

2.  INVOCATION/FLAGSALUTE

TheinvocationwaspronouncedbyLarryRussellofFather'sHouse. ThePledgeofAllegiance
wasrecited.

3.  ROLLCALL

Present: MayorDennisWeber
CouncilmanKurtAnagnostou
CouncilmanAndyBusack
CouncilmanDonJensen

CouncilwomanRamonaLeber (arrived8:14p.m.)
CouncilmanChetMakinster

CouncilwomanMaryJaneMelink
CityManagerBobGregory
CityAttorneyMarilynHaan
CityClerkAnnDavis

CityStaffPresent

DavidCampbell, AssistantCityManager; RichardBemm, DirectorofParks Recreation;
RobbieBerg, HumanResourcesDirector; JohnBrickey, DirectorofCommunityDevelopment;
JeffCameron, PublicWorksDirector; JudyJones, InformationTechnologyDirector; Daryl
McDaniel, FireChief; DonBamd, PoliceCaptain; andKurtSacha, FinanceDirector.

4.  APPROVALOFPREVIOUSMINUTES

Onamotiondulymadeandpassed, thereadingoftheminutesoftheregularCouncil
meetingheldAugust23, 2007, copiesofwhichhadbeensubmittedtotheMayorand
membersoftheCityCouncil, waswaivedandtheminuteswereapprovedasifread.

5.  CHANGES/REVISIONSTOTHEAGENDA

Nochangestotheagendawereannounced.

6.  PRESENTATIONS AWARDS

A.  Proclamation:  City -WideDayofPlay

MayorWeberdeclaredSeptember22, 2007, "CityWideDayofPlay" intheCityofLongview.
TheProclamationdetailedthemanyhealthfulbenefitsofplay.

DirectorofParksandRecreationRichBemmacceptedtheProclamationandtoldofactivities
plannedforSeptember22.  EventswilltakeplaceattheHemlockPlazaareaofLakeSacajawea



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007
Page2

andwillconsistofchildren'sgames, publichealthinformationbooth, freeclasses, andthe
communitytribalwalk.  OthersponsorsincludePathways2020andCowlitzontheMove.  Mr.
Bemmsaidplaykeepsthekidineachofusalive.

B.  Proclamation:  ConstitutionWeek.

September17`   2007, isthe220`  anniversaryoftheframingoftheConstitution.  MayorWeber
readtheProclamationhonoringtheConstitutionandthefreedomsitprovidestoallAmericans.

TworepresentativesfromtheDaughtersoftheAmericanRevolutionacceptedtheproclamation.
Mrs. SandersstatedtheDARprovidesexhibitionmaterialstocommunitiestohonorthe
magnificentdocument" thatgrantsusourcivilliberties.  ShethankedCouncilforrecognizing
thiswonderfuldocument.

C.  IdahoGeneralMinesPresentationMt. St. Helens

MayorWeberannouncedhewouldprovidetenminutestorepresentativesfromtheFederal
BureauofLandManagementtotalkabouttheproposedlease; twentyminutestorepresentatives
fromIdahoGeneralMinestotalkabouttheirplannedactivity; andtwentyminutestoa
representativefromtheGiffordPinchotTaskForcetoaddressenvironmentalconcerns.

IdahoGeneralMineshasappliedforamineralleaserightcoveringapproximately900acresin
theGreenRiverValleynearGoatMountain, northofMt. St. Helens.  Thisleaseapplicationis
oneofthestepsrequiredinalongprocessthatmayeventuallyleadtodevelopmentandoperation
ofaminetoremovemineralsfromtheleasedarea.  Ifdeterminedfeasiblethroughthepermitting
andsiteexplorationprocess, IdahoGeneralMines (IGMI) maymineforcopper, gold,
molybdenum, andsilver.

Councilhasaskedtobeprovidedinformationregardingtheproposedactivitybecauseitmay
affecttheCity'swatersupply.  TheminingoperationwouldoccurintheCowlitzRiver
watershed, whichsuppliesdrinkingwatertothecitizensofLongview; miningoperationshave
thepotentialtonegativelyimpactwaterqualityinthewatershed.

MayorWeberstatedthereisnoproposalbeforeCouncilatthistime; thisisapresentationfor
informationonly.  Thusthisisnotapublichearingandnopubliccommentontheissuewillbe
entertained.  AtCouncilmanJensen'srequest, MayorWebercautionedtheaudiencetorefrain
fromanydemonstrationsofsupportoropposition.

BureauofLandManagement (BLM) representativeEricHoffmandescribedtheinvolvementof
theBLMandtheUnitedStatesForestService (USFS).  Mr. HoffmanwasaccompaniedbyChris
DeWitt, SectionChiefofMinerals.  Mr. HoffmandescribedthescopeoftheIGMIplantomine
anapproximate900 -acreparcelintheareaoftheheadwatersoftheGreenRiver.  Thismineral
depositisreferredtoas "MargaretMountain" deposit.  Thispropertyliesoutsidetheboundaries
oftheMt. St. HelensNationalVolcanicMonument, atthenorthernedgeofthe1980'sblastzone
inthevicinityofGoatMountain.  AtthetimetheMt. St. HelensNationalVolcanicMonument
wasestablished, noprovisionsweremadeforbufferingareasabuttingthemonument.



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007

Page3

Mr. HoffinanstatedIGMIhasa50% interestinthemineralrightsto217ofthesubjectacres.
Theysoughtrightstoanadditional682acresintheirproposedleasearea.  Hesaidthatgrantinga
mineralleaseofpubliclandsisdiscretionaryonthepartofBLMifitisfoundtobeinthebest
publicinterest.

hiordertograntalease, aNEPAstudywasconducted.  Thepubliccommentperiodhas
concluded.  Afindingofnosignificancewasmade, sincethisapplicationwasonlyforalease
right.  Mr. Hoffinansaid "literallythousands" ofcommentswerereceived, mostofwhichwent
beyondthescopeofthestudy, sincethisinitialstudywasonlytodeterminetheimpactof
grantingaleaserighttothepropertywhichwouldonlyallowtheapplicanttostudyandevaluate
whetherminingisfeasibleinthislocation.

AndyRussellandPatRogersappearedonbehalfofIdahoGeneralMines.  Mr. Russellspoke
aboutthemodernminingindustryingeneralandhiscompanyspecifically.  IdahoGeneralMines
isapubliclytradedcompanyontheAMEXexchange.  IGMIisadevelopmentcompany.  The
MargaretMountainareaisconsideredafirstclasscopperdeposit.  However, theyexpectalsoto
minethealloyelementmolybdenum, which, amongotheruses, isessentialinthestainlesssteel
processanddesulfursdieselfuels.

Mr. RussellemphasizedthefactthatthispreliminaryleaseonlygrantsIGMItherighttotravel
overandaroundthepropertyanddosomeminortestingtoevaluatethemineralspresentand
determinethebestwaytominetheminerals.  AnotherNEPAreviewandassessmentwillbe
requiredoncethecompanydevelopsthebestplantoextractthemineralsfromtheground.

Mr. Russellsaiditnormallytakestenyearsofthepermitting, evaluatingandreviewingprocess
beforeaminebecomesoperational.

IGMIhastodecidewhetherthesizeofthedepositislargeenoughtofeasiblydevelop.  IGMI
willnotdevelopapropertyifitisnoteconomicallyfeasibletooperateandmaintainafterclosure.
Miningisheavyindustryandassuchdrawsheavilyontheadjacentcommunitytoprovidegoods,
materials, andservices.

ThepreliminaryassessmentsmustbemadebyIGMIbeforetheycanstatewithanycertaintyhow
themineralswouldbeextracted.  Therearenumerouswaystodoso; thiswouldbedetermined
bymetallurgists.  HesaidIGMI "willnotdevelopthisasanopenpitoperation."

IGMIDirectorofPermittingandEnvironmentalEngineerPatRogersstatedIGMIhasa
corporateenvironmentalstatementthatrequires (1) absolutecompliancewithallregulationsand
standards; (2) minimizingimpactsbyuseofbestavailabletechnology; and (3) netpositiveeffect
onthecommunity.

Mr. RogersreiteratedthatthisinitialleaserightmerelygrantsIGMItherighttoevaluatethe
propertyforfeasibilityofmining.  Theminingpermittingprocessisquitelengthy, andmining
companiesmakesignificantinvestmentsbeforeeverseeinganyreturnontheirinvestment.  Mr.
Russellestimatedanexpenditureof $70- to $100- millionwouldbeexpendedjusttodetermineif
theMargaretMountainsiteisfeasible.



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007
Page4

CouncilmanAnagostouinquiredaboutpostclosureliability.  Mr. Rogersreportedthemining
companiesarerequiredtopostcashbondstoguaranteeclean-upofthesite.  Theinitialbond
mightbeintheamountof $54- million.  Thecostforaphasedbond, overthe44 -yearlifeofa
mine, isinthevicinityof $400million.

TheGifford- PinchotTaskForcewasrepresentedbyRyanHunterofPortland, Oregon.  Mr.
Hunteridentifiedhisorganizationasanindependentnonprofitconservationgroup.  Theirinitial
focuswasonprotectingold- growthforests.  Theyhavesinceswitchedfocustotheloggingand
timberindustriesinanefforttoencouragereforestation.  However, theTaskForcestillopposes
projectsitbelieveswillbedamagingtotheenvironment.

Mr. HunterdescribedhowthesubjectpropertywasacquiredbytheTrustforPublicLand.  The
landwaspurchasedfromprivateownersanddeededtothePublicLandTrustinordertoprotect
it.  Mr. HuntersaidhisorganizationhasarguedwiththeBLMthatitisillegalforthemtolease
outthepropertyforminingatthistime.

Mr. HuntersaidtheresponsetotheBLM'sNEPAassessmentreceivedapproximately20,000
publiccomments.  Thevastmajorityofresponseswereinoppositiontomininginthisarea; this
includedcommentsfromWashingtonStateSenatorsMurrayandCantwell.

Acknowledgingthatthisminingproposalisintheearlieststagesofpermitting, Mr. Hunter
explainedwhyhisorganizationisopposingthemineatthistime:  hearguedthatstoppinga
miningoperationisliketryingtostopaboulderrollingdownthehill.  Itiseasiertostopa
boulderbeforeitgathersmomentum.  Thefartherittravels, thefasteritgoesanditbecomes
moreandmoredifficulttostop.  Oncefundshavebeeninvestedandsubstantialamountsof
moneyareinvolvedintheexplorationprocessthereismoreandmorepressureonthemining
companyandthefederalgovernmenttoallowthepermitting.

Mr. Hunterdisplayedanumberofphotographsoftheremotearea.  Aportionofthelandisinthe
TumwaterRoadlessArea, whichhasbeensetasideasananimalreserve.  Theheadwatersofthe
GreenRiverarealsohere; theGreenRiverhasbeenidentifiedasa "wildandscenicriver."

WhiletheIGMIrepresentativesdenyanopenpitminewouldbeconstructed, Mr. Hunteralleged
thatitifitweredeterminedanopenpitminewouldbethemosteconomical, thatiswhatIGMI
wouldconstruct.  Undergroundminingalsocausesproblemslikesubsidencewhichcanalter
hydrologybothaboveandunderground.  Acidrockdrainageisapossibleproblemthatmustbe
monitoredandtreatedformany, manyyears.

Mr. Hunteralsoshowedphotographsofhugepilesofdiscardedmaterialremovedfrommines
anddamsconstructedofminetailings.  Hearguedthatthebondsrequiredtobepostedbymining
operationsarenormallywaytoolowtocoverclean-upcosts.  Miningcompanieshavebeen
knowntodeclarebankruptcyandjustwalkawayfromasite.

Heconcludedhispresentationbystatingheisorganizingafieldtriptotheproposedminesitein
October; heinvitedCouncilmemberstoattend.



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007

Page5

CouncilwomanLeberarrivedatthispointinthemeeting.]

CouncilmanJensenvoicedhisopinionthatCouncilshouldonlytakeapositiononthemineifit
isgoingtoaffectLongview.  Inthispreliminaryreview, therewerenofactspresentedthat
establisheditwouldaffectLongview.

CouncilmanAnagnostousaidhewouldliketodiscusstopicslikeairqualityandexpressedan
interestinhearingwhattheaudiencemembershadtosay.  MayorWeberrecalledthatsincethere
wasnodecisionbeforeCouncil, publicinputwouldnotbetaken.

Respondingtoquestionsabouttheleavingsofamine, Mr. Rogerssaidminingoperationsnow
arerequiredtoredeposittheunusedmaterialtoanopenpitsiteandreturnthesitetoa
conformationclosetoitsoriginalappearance.  Duringtheprocessofundergroundmining, Mr.
Rogersstatedmaterialsremovedfromtheminethathavenomineralogicalvalueareusedto
backfillaroundthemine.  Heassertedthereis "usuallyverylittleleftoutsidethemine."

7.  CONSTITUENTS' COMMENTS

AlicePerryLinker, CharlottePersons, MargaretGreen, KenSpring, MichelleMurant, andClara
OttosenWilkinsallvoicedtheiroppositiontotheproposedminingnearGoatMountain.

SeniorCentermembersRoseEllaPutnam, ClaraOttosenWilkins, ArtDailey, andRogerVick
allspoketoCouncilabouttheneedforanew, largerSeniorCenter.

8.  PUBLICHEARINGS —None.

9.  BOARDCOMMISSIONRECOMMENDATIONS —None.

10.  ORDINANCES RESOLUTIONS

A.  OrdinanceNo. 3019, AmendingLMCChapter19.55, AdoptingIndustrial/Manufacturing
PerformanceStandards

AnOrdinanceaddinganewChapter19.55, PerformanceStandardsIndustrial/Manufacturing
Zones, totheLongviewMunicipalCode, wasintroducedandreadbytitleonly.

CityManagerGregoryreportedthattheOrdinanceprovidedwasthesametextthathadbeen
reviewedearlier.

RickWinsman, representingboththeChamberofCommerceandtheCommunityEconomic
DevelopmentCommission, thankedCouncilfortheopportunitytoreviewthisordinance.  Both
organizationshadreviewedthestandardandagreeditwasequitable; heurgedadoptionofthe
ordinanceasproposed.

CouncilmanMakinstermovedadoptionoftheforegoingordinancewhichmotionwas
secondedbyCouncilmanBusackandonavotedulyheldandrecordedwith7 "Aye" votes
byMayorWeberandCouncilmembersAnagnostou, Busack, Jensen, Leber, Makinsterand
Melink, andno "Nay" votes, theMayordeclaredtheordinanceadoptedandpassed,
affixedhissignatureofapprovalthereonandtheordinancewasassignedtheNo.  3019.



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007
Page6

B.  ResolutionNo.  1866, Amending2007 -2011CapitalImprovementPlan (CIP)
AResolutionoftheCityCounciloftheCityofLongviewAuthorizingAmendmentofthe
CapitalImprovementPlan (2007 -2011CIP), wasintroducedandreadbytitleonly.

CityManagerGregorynotedthisproposedamendmenttotheCIPisinconjunctionwiththe
City'sNPDESpermit.  ExcesszinchasbeenidentifiedintherunoffattheCityShop.  Itis
believedthegalvanizedroofattheCityShopiscausingthis.  Staffhasproposedtoapplyan
elastomericcoatingontheroof, estimatedtocost $45,000.  Fundstocoverthisexpenditureare
availableintheStormwaterfund.

CouncilmanAnagnostoumovedadoptionoftheforegoingresolutionwhichmotionwas
secondedbyCouncilmanJensenandonavotedulyheldandrecordedwith7 "Aye" votes
byMayorWeberandCouncilmembersAnagnostou, Busack, Jensen, Leber, Makinsterand
Metink, andno "Nay" votes, theMayordeclaredtheresolutionadoptedandpassed,
affixedhissignatureofapprovalthereonandtheresolutionwasassignedtheNo. 1866, a
copyofwhichisonfileintheofficeoftheCityClerk.

C.  ResolutionNo.  1867, CertifyinganL.I.D. PetitiontoConstructSouthWeberAvenuewithin
theMintFarmPhaseIIandEstablishingaPublicHearingonOctober11, 2007, at7:00p.m.

AResolutionoftheCityCouncilofLongview, Washington, declaringtheintentionofthe
Counciltoordertheformationofalocalimprovementdistrictfortheconstructionand
installationofimprovementswithintheboundariesoftheproposeddistrict; settingforth
thenatureandterritorialextentofsuchproposedimprovements; designatingthenumber
ofthelocalimprovementdistrict; describingtheboundariesthereof; statingtheestimated
costandexpenseoftheimprovementsandtheamountthereofproposedtobeborneby
thepropertywithintheproposedlocalimprovementdistrict; andfixingadate, timeand
placeforapublichearingontheformationoftheproposeddistrict.  Theforegoing
Resolutionwasintroducedandreadbytitleonly.

CityManagerGregoryadvisedthisResolutionwouldcreateanLIDfortheinfrastructure
improvementsattheMintFarm; thisproposalismerelyachangeinthefunding
mechanismforthiswork.  NorthwestRenewablewillbethesoleabuttingpropertyowner
andwillpayalloftheassessments.

CouncilwomanLebermovedadoptionoftheforegoingresolutionwhichmotionwas
secondedbyCouncilwomanMelinkandonavotedulyheldandrecordedwith7 "Aye"
votesbyMayorWeberandCouncilmembersAnagnostou, Busack, Jensen, Leber,
MakinsterandMetink, andno "Nay" votes, theMayordeclaredtheresolutionadopted
andpassed, affixedhissignatureofapprovalthereonandtheresolutionwasassignedthe
No. 1867, acopyofwhichisonfileintheofficeoftheCityClerk.

11.  MAYOR'SANDCOUNCILMEMBERS' REPORTS

MayorWeberinvitedCouncil'sattentiontothetwoitemshehadincludedintheagenda:  notice
ofAWC'supcominglegislativemeetingstoidentifyissuesofconcern; andresultsofanNLC
survey.



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007

Page7

CouncilmanAnagnostoureportedheandseveralotherCouncilmembershadattendedthenew
LexingtonBridgededication.  CouncilmanJensencommentedonthesessionsoftheBranding
BootCamphehadattended.

12.  CONSENTCALENDAR

CouncilwomanLeberaskedthatStreetUsePermitNo.  5- 07 -26, LongviewSaturday
Market, October6, beremovedfromtheConsentCalendarforseparateconsideration.
TherebeingnootheritemstheCouncilwishedremovedfromtheConsentCalendar, a
motionwasdulymadeandpassedapprovingthebalanceoftheitemsontheConsent
Calendarasthoughactedonindividually.

A.  AccountsPayable

BasedupontheauthenticationandcertificationofclaimsanddemandsagainsttheCity, prepared
andsignedbytheCity'sauditingofficer, andinfullreliancethereon, itismovedandsecondedas
shownintheminutesofthismeetingthatthefollowingvouchers /warrantsareapprovedfor
payment:

Voucher (warrant) totalsforFirstClaimsofSept. 2007:     Total $709,551.53
CheckNos. 275407through275785)

PayPeriod:  SecondHalfAugust
Payrollwarrantnumbers196809through196916 Total  $202,808.50
Payrolldirectdeposits Total  $392,045.30
Payrollwiretransfers Total  $587,194.46
TotalPayrollAmt 1,182,048.26

DebtservicepaymentselectronicallywiredforSept. 2007: 132,918.75

B.  LiabilityClaims

Theclaim(s) fordamageslistedbelowwas /werereceivedbytheCityandhavebeen/arebeing
researchedand/orreviewedbyWashingtonCitiesInsuranceAuthority (WCIA) andclaimstatus
isasnoted:

New.

PatriciaVroman, DOA:  7/27/07Claimantallegesawatermainbreakinalleyflooded
garage, yard, shedwithmudandraisedupconcretefloor.  Damagesunspecified.

DonnaSchoonover, DOA:  4/30/07Claimantallegeshersewerlinewasblockeddueto
problemonCityside. $747.98

RichardMcCool, DOA:  5/7/07Claimantallegessewerlineswerecloggeddueto
problemonCityside.  $247.17

KristaHarrington, DOA:  6/12/07Claimantallegesvehicledamageasaresultof
collisionwithaCitystreetsweeper.  Damagesunspecified.



CityCouncilMinutes

September13, 2007
Page8

RobertFox, DOA:  6/28/07Claimantallegesout -of- pocketexpensesincurredtoclear
sewerlinewhenproblemwasinCityline.  $387.18

PatrickLong, DOA:  8/3/07Claimantwasinfirstvehiclestruckinrear -endaccident
causedbyaCitydriver.  Claimsforbodilyinjuryandpropertydamagetovehicle.
Damagesunspecified.

JohnJenkins, DOA:  8/3/07PassengerinPatrickLong'svehicleduringaccident.
ClaimspersonalinjuryanddamagetoATVinbedofpick -upatthetimeofaccident.
Damagesunspecified.

SusanHayes, DOA:  8/3/07Driverofsecondvehicleinvolvedinrear -endaccident.
Claimsforpersonalinjuryandpropertydamage.  Damagesunspecified.

StewartWeston, DOA:  3/17/06Claimantallegespersonalinjuriesasaresultofatrip
and -falloverunevenportionofsidewalk.  Damagesunspecified.

LeoKesler, dbaCleanMachine, DOA:  8/27/07ClaimantallegesCitycrewcleaninga
parkinglotblewdustanddebrisallovernumerousvehiclesthathadjustbeenwashedan
detailed.  $2,505.00

GaryHall, DOA:  9/4/07Claimantallegespersonalinjuryandbrokenglassesasaresult
oftrip- and -falloverunevenportionofsidewalk.  Damagesunspecified.

Settled.

DonnaSchoonover, DOA:  4/30/07Claimantallegedhersewerlinewasblockeddueto
problemonCityside. $747.98

RichardMcCool, DOA:  5/7/07Claimantallegedsewerlineswerecloggeddueto
problemonCityside.  $247.17

KristaHarrington, DOA:  6/12/07Claimantallegedvehicledamageasaresultof
collisionwithaCitystreetsweeper.  $1,225.16

RobertFox, DOA:  6/28/07Claimantallegedout -of- pocketexpensesincurredtoclear
sewerlinewhenproblemwasinCityline.  $387.18

BarbaraHughes, DOA:  10/4/06Claimantallegedpersonalinjuriesasaresultoftrip
and -falloverunevenportionofsidewalk.  $14,221.61

JamesHams, DOA:  6/5/07Claimantallegedvehicledamageasaresultofcollision
withCityvehicle.  $4,577.45

Denied.

None



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007

Page9

C.  StreetUseRequests
Thefollowingstreetuserequest(s) was /wereapprovedsubjecttoanystipulationsspecified
duringroutinereviewbyconcerneddepartments:

5- 07 -27, ColumbiaTheatre 0̀7 -`08SchoolPerformances

RemovedforSeparateConsideration:  S- 07 -26, LongviewSaturdayMarket, October6

CouncilwomanLeberinquiredofDowntownBusinessBuilder (andSaturdayMarketorganizer)
HankSowerwinewhattypesofactivitieswouldbetakingplaceduringthestatedeveninghours.

Mr. Sowerwinestatedhedidnotenvisionanyactivitiesbeingscheduledfortheeveninghours;
theeveninghourswereproposedonthepermitapplicationtoenableorganizerstocleanupand
removematerials.  ThethemeoftheOctober6MarketisOktoberfest.  Therewillbelotsof

children'sactivitiesandmusic.  Noalcoholwillbeserved, althoughtheDowntownrestaurants
mayparticipatewiththethemebymakingappropriaterefreshmentsavailable.

13.  LIQUORLICENSEAPPLICATIONS

A.  Assumption
AmanRCorporation, DaljiRattenpal, andRajvinderK. Rattenpalhaveappliedforan
assumptionfromKelceyL. WillcutsandMelodyJ. WillcutsDBASpeedyMartat704Tennant
WyforaGroceryStoreBeer/Winelicense. Backgroundcheckshavebeenperformedonthe
locationandthepartiesinvolved. Thepolicedepartmenthasnoconcernswiththeapplicantsor
thelocation.

AnextensionuntilSeptember20, 2007wasgrantedbytheWashingtonStateLiquorControl
Boardduetothetimingofthereceiptofthisrequest.

NoCouncilactionwastaken.

B.  NewApplication
LaMexicanaInvestment, Inc., AntonietaM. Rodriguez, andJoseJ. Rodriguezhaveappliedfora
LiquorLicensefromtheWashingtonStateLiquorControlBoardfortheprivilegesofDirect
ShipmentReceiver -inWAonly, GroceryStoreBeerWine, andSnackBarwiththetradename
ofLaMexicanaMeatMarketIII.  Inaddition, theywillalsobetakingovertheadjoining
business, ElRancheroRestaurantat516Oregonway. Localbackgroundcheckswereperformed
onthelocationandtheapplicantstoincludeacheckofthelocalGresham, ORrecords. The
policedepartmenthasnoconcernswitheithertheapplicantsorthelocation.

AnextensionuntilSeptember20wasgrantedbytheWashingtonStateLiquorControlBoarddue
tothetimingofthereceiptofthisrequest.

NoCouncilactionwastaken.



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007
Page10

14.  CITYMANAGER'SREPORTS

A.  RecommendationfromLodgingTaxAdvisoryBoardtoApproveFundsforGreater
ColumbiaArtsNetwork

AtitsDecember21, 2006meetingtheLongviewCityCouncilestablishedapolicytoreview
requestsforTourismfundseverysixmonthsasfundsbecomeavailablefromtheTourismFund.
InJunetheCityextendeditsinvitationforTourismFundOutsideAgencyfundingrequests. A
pressreleaseannouncingtheCityofLongviewwastakingapplicationsforthefundingof
projectsthatsupportormaintaintourisminLongviewappearedintheDailyNews. Thedeadline
forsubmittingoutsideagencyapplicationsforthisfundingcyclewasJuly13, 2007.

BytheendofthebusinessdayonJuly13, 2007theExecutiveOfficereceivedoneapplicationfor
fundingintheamountof $4,965 (amounttransposedonagendapaperworktoread $4,695) from
theGreaterColumbiaArtsNetwork. Asoutlinedontheattachedapplicationunder "Project
Information," TheGreaterColumbiaArtsNetworkrequestforfundingprovidesfor25,000full
colorartsdirectorybrochureshighlightingthemajorartsvenuesandorganizationsinthelocal
community.

OnAugust9, 2007theLodgingTaxAdvisoryCommitteemetandunanimouslygavetheirvote
ofsupportandapprovalforfundingoftheGreaterColumbiaArtsNetworkproposalinthe
amountof $4,965asrequestedintheirapplication.

CityManagerGregory'srecommendationtoCouncilwastoaccepttherecommendationofthe
LodgingTaxAdvisoryCommitteetoincludetheGreaterColumbiaArtsNetworkproposalinthe
2007TourismFundbudget. Aformalbudgetamendmentproposaladdingthisappropriationto
the2007 -08fundingcyclewillbesubmittedintheFallof2007.

LaurelMurphy, proponentoftheGreatColumbiaArtsNetwork, showedCouncilaglossy
brochureasanexampleofwhattheyplantoprint.  Themissionoftheirorganizationisto
promotetheartsinthecommunity.  Theynowhave42members.  Theyplantoinsertaquarterly
updatesheetlistingscheduledspecialactivitiesandexhibits.

CouncilmanJensensaidtheGreatColumbiaArtsNetworkshouldprobablybeanon -profit
501(c)3organization, iftheywerenotalready.  CityManagerGregoryadvisedthatrequirement
hadneverbeenimposedonrecipientsoflodgingtaxfundsbefore; perhapsthisshouldbe
investigated.

OnamotionmadebyCouncilmanJensen, secondedbyCouncilwomanMelink, and
unanimouslypassedwith7 "Aye" votesbyMayorWeberandCouncilmembers
Anagnostou, Busack, Jensen, Leber, Makinster, andMelink, theCityManager's
recommendationwasacceptedandapproved.

B.  SchedulePublicHearing (October25, 2007):  forthe2006HOMEandCDBGConsolidated
AnnualPerformanceandEvaluationReport (CAPER)

TheCityofLongviewasaCDBGEntitlementcommunityandleadagencyfortheLongview
KelsoHOMEConsortiumisrequiredtoproduceaConsolidatedAnnualPerformanceand



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007

Page11

EvaluationReport (CAPER) toHUDwithin90daysofthecompletionofeachprogramyear
whichendsJuly31TheReportalsorequiresaminimum15 -daypubliccommentperiod.  This
commentperiodwillbeginOctober12` andendonOctober26th, 2007.  ThePublicHearingis
neededonOctober25` andwillallowforpubliccommentonHOME CDBGprogram
performance, accomplishmentsandrecommendationsforprogramadjustmentsifneeded.
CouncilandthepublicwillreceivecopiesoftheCAPERfortheirreviewapproximatelyon
October11`

CityManagerGregoryrecommendedCouncilsetapublichearingforOctober25` 2007to
reviewthe2006HOME CDBGConsolidatedAnnualPerformanceEvaluationReport.

OnamotionmadebyCouncilwomanLeber, secondedbyCouncilmanMakinster, and
unanimouslypassedwith7 "Aye" votesbyMayorWeberandCouncilmembers
Anagnostou, Busack, Jensen, Leber, Makinster, andMelink, theCityManager's
recommendationwasacceptedandapproved.

C.  SMP2007 -3PermitforShorelineManagementSubstantialDevelopmentfortheCityof

LongviewtoConstructIntersectionImprovementsonOceanBeachHighwaynearLake
Sacajawea
AShorelineManagementSubstantialDevelopmentPermithasbeenrequestedbytheCityof
LongviewPublicWorksDepartmenttoconstructintersectionimprovementsattheintersectionof
OceanBeachHighway (StateRoute4) andNENicholsBoulevard.  Theprojectalsoseeksto
reconstructa5 -footwidepathalongthesoutherlyright -of -wayofNENicholsBoulevardaswell
asconstructapedestrianrefugeisland.

TheapplicantfiledaJointAquaticResourcePermitApplication (DARPA) withtheCity. The
JARPAcommentperiodconcludedonJuly2, 2007.  NocommentsontheJARPAapplication
havebeenreceived.  TheCitycompletedtheSEPAprocessforthisprojectinthesummerof
2004.

TheCityCouncil'sreviewoftheapplicationwasoriginallyscheduledfortheJuly12, 2007
regularmeeting.  However, theCouncildecidedtodeferconsiderationoftheapplicationwhile
staffpursuedalternativesatCouncil'sdirection.  Oneofthosealternativeswastoagainspeak
withtheprivatepropertyownertothewestofthesite.  Staffdidso, andrelatedthatownerisstill
adamantlyunwillingtogiveupanypropertyforuseasright -of -way.

CityManagerGregoryrecommendedCouncilapprovetheShorelineManagementSubstantial
DevelopmentPermitfortheNENicholsBoulevard /OceanBeachHighwayintersection
improvementsandauthorizehimtosigntheShorelineManagementSubstantialDevelopment
Permit.

ItwasmovedbyCouncilmanJensenandsecondedbyCouncilmanMakinstertoacceptthe
CityManager'srecommendationregardingtheShorelinesManagementPermit.

CouncildiscussionrevealedsomereluctancetotakefourtreesfromLakeSacajaweaParkin
ordertowidentheroadwaytoallowfortrafficqueueing.  DirectorofPublicWorksJeffCameron
notedCouncilhadinitiallypreferredthescaleddowndesignthatdidnotencroachintothepark;



CityCouncilMinutes
September13, 2007
Page12

subsequently, Councilapprovedthedesignthatdidextendbeyondtheright -of -wayandinfringed
onthepark.  Mr. Cameronnoteditwouldbeveryeasytoscaletheprojectdownandutilizethe
sameSMPpermit.  Hedid, however, askCounciltoprovideananswerverysooninorderto
meetestablishedtimelinesandutilizeavailablefunding.

CouncilwomanLebermovedtoamendthemotionbyspecifyingstaffdesignthescaled
downversionoftheintersection, stayingwithinexistingright -of -way.  Thismotionwas
secondedbyCouncilwomanMelink.  Uponavotedulyheld, themotionpassedwith5
Aye" votesbyMayorWeberandCouncilmembersAnagnostou, Leber, Makinster, and
Melink, to2 "Nay" votescastbyCouncilmembersBusackandJensen.

Uponavotedulyheld, themainmotionasamendedpassedwith6 "Aye" votesbyMayor
WeberandCouncilmembersAnagnostou, Jensen, Leber, Makinster, andMelink, toone
Nay" votecastbyCouncilmanBusack, theCityManager'srecommendationwasaccepted
andapproved.

15.  MISCELLANEOUSINFORMATIONONLY

A.  NewBusinessLicenseApplications

B.  MeetingReminders
NEXTSPECIALCOUNCILMEETING:

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER27, 2007AT6P.M.
NEXTREGULARCOUNCILMEETINGS:

THURSDAY, OCTOBER11, 2007, AT7P.M.

NEXTCOUNCILWORKSHOPS:

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER18.2007AT7P.M.   PRELIMINARYCRIMEREDUCTION
STRATEGICPLAN

16.  ADJOURNMENT

TherebeingnofurtherbusinesstocomebeforetheCouncilatitsregularsession, themeeting
wasadjournedat9:56p.m.

THECITYOFLONGVIEW

aC/-
AnnDavis, CityClerk

APPROVED:

Mayor



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE: Abandoned Shopping 
Carts Regulations Discussion 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager  
 
For Agenda of: _____March 1, 2016_______ 
 
Originator: ________Steve Taylor________   
 
City Attorney:     Janean Parker  
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 

Agenda Item Attachments:    
Proposed Shopping Cart Regulations Ordinance  
 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
At the February 16th regular meeting, the City Council voted 3-3 to reject the proposed ordinance 
regarding stolen and abandoned shopping carts.  Councilmembers Rick Roberson and Todd McDaniel 
requested in writing to bring the ordinance back for consideration.  City Attorney Parker and the City 
Manager will present additional information and options in response to specific concerns voiced by 
councilmembers at the previous meeting. A memo outlining various options is currently being 
prepared and will be provided to Council at Tuesday’s meeting. 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
Review options provided by staff pertaining to the shopping cart control ordinance and provide 
direction for amendments to the ordinance for future consideration. 
 
 
 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO.  __________ 
 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO RELATING TO 
SHOPPING CART THEFT AND REGULATION AMENDING 9A.56.270 
AND ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 9.62 SHOPPING CART CONTROL TO 
THE KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE 
 
 
WHEREAS, shopping carts lost, stolen or abandoned on public and private 

property can obstruct access to sidewalks and streets, interfere with pedestrian and 

vehicular traffic, and impede emergency services creating a potential public safety hazard 

and harming public health and safety; and  

WHEREAS, left unattended, lost, stolen, or abandoned shopping carts cause 

deteriorated community appearance and can create conditions of blight in the community; 

and 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that abandoned shopping carts is becoming 

a more common problem within the City constituting a public nuisance; and  

WHEREAS, the City wishes to deter the removal of shopping carts from 

businesses provide for the retrieval of lost, stolen, or abandoned shopping carts,  and to 

prevent the accumulation of removed carts on public and private properties within the 

City;  

NOW, THEREFORE, 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KELSO DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1.  Kelso Municipal Code Chapter 9.04 Amended.   That Kelso Municipal 

Code Section 9.04.010 is hereby amended to add the following state statute to the list of statutes 

adopted by reference:   

RCW 9A.56.270    Shopping Cart Theft.    
 
 SECTION 2.  Kelso Municipal Code Title 9 Amended.  That Kelso Municipal Code 



 2 

Title 9 is hereby amended to add a new Chapter 9.64 as follows:   

Chapter 9.64 – Shopping Cart Control. 

9.64.010  Purpose. 

The purpose of this Chapter is to prevent the unlawful removal of shopping carts from the 

premises of businesses and to provide for the prompt retrieval of lost, stolen, or abandoned 

shopping carts to promote public health, safety, and welfare. 

9.64.020. Removal of shopping cart violation and penalties. 

A. It is a Class 3 civil infraction as defined in RCW 7.80.120 for a person without written 

permission of the owner or person entitled to possession to abandon or to be in possession of a 

shopping cart that is the property of another more than 100 feet away from the parking area of 

the retail establishment or shopping cart containment area of the owner of the shopping cart. 

B. This section shall apply only if: (1) the shopping cart has a sign permanently affixed to it that 

identifies the owner of the cart or the retailer, or both, (2) the retail establishment posts 

notification to  the public of the procedure to be used for authorized removal of the cart from the 

premises and  notifies the public that the unauthorized removal of the cart from the premises or 

parking area of the retail establishment, or the unauthorized abandonment of the cart, is 

unlawful, and lists a telephone number or address for returning carts;.   

9.64.030  Shopping cart identification signs and notice required. 

A.    Every shopping cart made available for use by customers shall have the following:   (a)  a 

sign permanently affixed to it that identifies the owner of the cart or the retailer, or both; (b) 

notifies the public of the procedure to be utilized for authorized removal of the cart from the 

premises; (c) notifies the public that the unauthorized removal of the cart from the premises or 

parking area of the retail establishment, or the unauthorized possession of the cart, is unlawful; 

and (d) lists a telephone number or address for returning carts removed from the premises or 

parking area to the owner or retailer. 

B.    Every retail establishment providing shopping carts shall post in a conspicuous location on 

the retail establishment property a notification to the public that unauthorized removal of 



 3 

shopping carts from the premises of the business and the unauthorized possession of a shopping 

cart is unlawful. The posted notification shall also contain the procedure to be utilized for 

authorized removal of the cart from the business premises and list a telephone number or address 

for returning carts removed from the premises. 

C.    Every retail establishment providing shopping carts shall keep on file with the City Police 

Department  a current telephone number and physical address at which the retail establishment 

may be contacted for the purpose of reporting the location of abandoned, lost, or stolen shopping 

carts. 

9.64.040  Retrieval and impoundment procedures. 

A.    Impoundment with Notice. The City may impound a shopping cart which has affixed to it 

identification information as required by KMC 9.64.020(B), if the following conditions have 

been satisfied: 

1.    Location Outside of Premises. The shopping cart is located outside the premises or 

parking area of a retail establishment and is left unattended or discarded on public 

property owned by or under the control of the city, or on any right-of-way within the city, 

or on private property where the owner has consented to removal; and 

2.    Notice of the cart’s discovery and location is given to the shopping cart’s owner, 

retailer, or agent unless such notice has been voluntarily waived by the shopping cart’s 

owner, retailer, or agent; and 

3.    Failure to Retrieve Cart. The shopping cart is not retrieved within forty eight (48) 

hours from the date notice is given. The forty-eight hours shall be calculated using only 

days Monday through Friday and will not include weekend days Saturday and Sunday. 

B.    Impoundment without Notice. A shopping cart may be impounded without notice if one of 
the following conditions is satisfied: 

1.    Hazardous Location. If a shopping cart will impede emergency services, or the 

normal flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, city enforcement personnel are authorized 

to immediately retrieve the shopping cart from public or private property and impound it. 

If the cart has identification information affixed, the owner will be notified and given 



 4 

forty-eight hours to retrieve the cart before a collection fee is assessed using the time 

calculation listed in subsection (A)(3) of this section; or 

2.    Lack of Identification. If a shopping cart is unattended or discarded and located 

outside the premises or parking area of a retail establishment and does not have the 

required identification information affixed thereto as required by KMC 9.64.020(B), the 

city may immediately retrieve the shopping cart from public property owned by or under 

control of the city, any right-of-way within the city, or private property with the consent 

of the owner; or 

3.    Evidence of a Crime. Any lost or stolen shopping cart may be impounded as 

evidence in a criminal investigation.  

9.64.050 Fees and disposition of carts. 

A.    Impounded Carts. When a shopping cart is impounded in accordance with this chapter, the 
city may charge a cart collection fee to the owner of a shopping cart. The fine shall be in the 
amount of twenty-five dollars per cart and each cart collected shall constitute a separate 
violation. Any owner having installed a locking device on its carts which has been disabled by 
one other than the owner or his agent shall be exempt from the fine. 

B.    Disposition of Carts. The city may sell or otherwise dispose of any cart not reclaimed within 
seven days from the date of notification to the owner or the owner’s agent of the cart’s discovery 
and location.  

 SECTION 3.  Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be 
severable. If any provision, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application 
thereof to any person, establishment, or circumstances shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall 
not affect the other provisions or application of this Ordinance. 

 SECTION 4.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect 5 days 
after its passage and publication of summary as required by law. 
  

ADOPTED by the City Council and SIGNED by the Mayor this ____ day of _______ 

___________, 2016. 

       ____________________________________ 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATION:    MAYOR 



 5 

 
________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
________________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 
PUBLISHED:_____________________ 



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE:  Kelso City Charter 
Discussion 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 
Janean Parker 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager   
 
For Agenda of:______March 1, 2016_______ 
 
Originator:_________Steve Taylor_________   
 
City Attorney:      Janean Parker 
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 

Agenda Item Attachments:    
 
Kelso City Charter - 2006 (link to Code Publishing webpage) 
City Attorney Memo, 11-14-2014 re: City Charter Questions 
City of Kelso Charter/Statutory Comparison  
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
 
Kelso is Washington State’s only municipality operating under both a city charter and the state’s 
Optional Municipal Code (Title 35A Revised Code of Washington).  The City uses the Council-Manager 
form of government.  The Council’s 2015 Budget Goals and Action Plan calls for the review of the city 
charter to evaluate potential amendments for voter consideration.  City Attorney Parker and City 
Manager Taylor will review, in detail, a memo that was sent to the Council December 2014 pertaining 
to questions of charter amendment or dissolution, when a public vote is required related to changes 
in the charter, and the legality of the City’s existing council wards. 
 
Concerns have been raised by Councilmembers in prior years of the charter’s continued necessity 
given the City’s adoption of the Optional Municipal Code. The charter contains several cumbersome 
administrative provisions including inflexible council meeting attendance requirements.  Any change 
to the charter requires a public vote, so obsolete provisions or those with unintended consequences 
cannot be easily changed.  On the other hand, nearly all of the content of the charter, in the case 
where the charter was repealed, could be separately adopted by ordinance and amended through 
Council action to provide a degree of flexibility, not presently allowed, in the administration of the 
City and its legislative processes. 
 
 
 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/WA/kelso/


 
Direction is also needed as to the level of public participation (workshops, committees, or public 
hearings) desired in the preparation and review of any amendments to the charter or decision to 
repeal the charter. 
 
This item was previously brought to Council in May of 2015 and discussed.  However, no final 
decisions were made.  Now that we have four new councilmembers and a new year bringing new 
goals and priorities, options laid out in Janean Parker’s attached memo are once again on the table 
for discussion and direction. The attached comparison between the current city charter and the 35A 
Optional Municipal Code will also be covered again during the discussion. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
 
Consensus from Council on next steps for city charter review. 



MEMORANDUM 
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
To:    Steve Taylor, City Manager 
From:   Janean Parker, City Attorney   
Date:  November 14, 2014 
Re:  Questions related to the City’s Charter 
 
 

You have posed several charter related legal questions in an effort to 
determine the best manner of proceeding in future elections.   As the analysis 
below shows, there appears to be some inconsistency in the statutes that may 
warrant raising certain questions to the state attorney general in order to 
avoid any missteps in the event charter amendments are brought forward.   
 

If the provisions of the charter are not constitutional, then what 
is the effect if the charter is not changed before the next 
election:  do we follow charter or state law?  Is the effect of the 
unconstitutionality, if any, to void that portion of the charter 
that is inconsistent? 

 
After review of the charter and the state law governing elections and charter 
cities, it does not appear that the City’s charter is unconstitutional or illegal.  
While the City’s use of its districts, as stated within the charter, is not 
consistent with the statutory ward system, the City has broad powers to 
regulate itself under its charter and the charter as drafted is not illegal or 
unconstitutional.   
 
Prior to 1993, the City of Kelso was a non-charter code city with a council 
manager form of government.  In 1993 it appears that the City adopted its 
first charter and reorganized as a charter code city, and retaining its council-
manager form of government.  In 2006, the City went through an effort to 
amend the charter to create a ward system so that the community could have 
more direct access to council members.  It did not amend its council-manager 
form of government.  This is the classification and form of government 
currently in effect.    
 
Under the City’s charter, Section 2.02, it sets forth the eligibility for election of 
the Council.    
 

2.02 Composition, Eligibility, Election and Terms. 
(a) Composition. There shall be a city council composed of seven 
members to be elected at large. Four council members shall be 
assigned to certain geographic districts for liaison purposes to 



improve communications between City government and Kelso 
citizens as follows: Position No. 1 shall be assigned to the “south 
district,” which shall consist of that area within the city limits 
between the Cowlitz River east to Interstate 5 and Allen Street 
south to the city limits. Position No. 3 shall be assigned to the 
“west district,” which shall consist of that area within the city limits 
between the Cowlitz River west to the City limits. Position No. 5 
shall be assigned to the “east district,” which shall consist of that 
area within the city limits between Interstate 5 east to the city 
limits to the east, north, and south. Position No. 6 shall be 
assigned to the “north district,” which shall consist of that area 
within the city limits between the Cowlitz River east to Interstate 5 
and Allen Street north to the city limits. The mayor shall be elected 
as provided in Section 2.03. 
(b) Eligibility. Only those registered voters of the city who shall 
have resided in the city for one year prior to the election shall be 
eligible to hold the office of council member. For those council 
member positions elected from districts, only those registered 
voters who shall have resided in the respective district for one 
year prior to the election shall be eligible to hold the office 
of council member. 
(c) Election. The registered electors of the city shall elect a 
council of seven members, at large in the following manner. At 
the election approving this Charter, the candidates receiving the 
highest number of votes for each position shall serve. In the event 
of a tie vote, the election shall be decided by lot. Such lot shall be 
conducted no later than the second Tuesday after certification of 
the election. 
(d) Terms. Candidates for positions 1, 2 and 3 shall be elected for 
a four-year term. In order to stagger the terms of office, 
candidates for positions 4, 5, 6 and 7 shall be elected for a two-
year term. After completion of this initial term, the term of office 
for positions 4, 5, 6 and 7 will be for four years. 

 
Kelso Charter 2006 (emphasis added).  The charter makes no distinction 
regarding the primary or general election.   
 

As you can see, the charter sets out a method of assigning four of the 
Council members to four districts of the City; however, the section clearly 
describes the election of all seven council member positions as “at large” and 
not elected by any ward or district. It does, however, require that members 
elected to positions assigned to districts be residents of that district. 
Historically, at least since the amendment of the charter in 2006 to add the 
district system, all of the council positions have been elected at large and not 
from within the voters of a ward or district in either the primary or general 



election.1  Each of the candidates elected have been residents of the 
respective ward for over one year.   
 

The process set out in the charter does not meet the requirements of 
state law for election by wards. The charter does not allow the voters of the 
district only to vote in a primary, and it does not base the boundaries of the 
district on population, to the extent practicable.   RCW 35A.12.040 provides 
“… Election to positions on the council shall be by majority vote from the city 
at large, unless provision is made by charter or ordinance for election by 
wards.”   Here there is no charter provision for election by wards. 

 
And see also 35A.18.020 (emphasis added):  
 
“(2) Except for the initial staggering of terms, councilmembers shall serve for 
four-year terms of office. All councilmembers shall serve until their successors 
are elected and qualified and assume office in accordance with 
*RCW 29.04.170. Councilmembers may be elected on a citywide or town wide 
basis, or from wards or districts, or any combination of these alternatives. 
Candidates shall run for specific positions. Wards or districts shall be redrawn 
as provided in **chapter 29.70 RCW. Wards or districts shall be used as 
follows: (a) Only a resident of the ward or district may be a candidate 
for, or hold office as, a councilmember of the ward or district; and (b) 
only voters of the ward or district may vote at a primary to nominate 
candidates for a councilmember of the ward or district. Voters of the 
entire city or town may vote at the general election to elect a 
councilmember of a ward or district, unless the city or town had prior 
to January 1, 1994, limited the voting in the general election for any or 
all council positions to only voters residing within the ward or district 
associated with the council positions. If a city or town had so limited the 
voting in the general election to only voters residing within the ward or district, 
then the city or town shall be authorized to continue to do so.” 

 
RCW 35A.12.180 sets for the process for elections from wards:  
 

Optional division of city into wards.  At any time not within three 
months previous to a municipal general election the council of a 
non-charter code city organized under this chapter may divide the 
city into wards or change the boundaries of existing wards. No 
change in the boundaries of wards shall affect the term of any 

                                                           
1 Washington, along with California and Alaska, had a blanket primary system that allowed every voter to choose a 
candidate of any party for each position. This kind of system was ruled unconstitutional in California Democratic Party 
v. Jones in 2000 because it forced political parties to endorse candidates against their will.  Initiative 872 was passed 
in 2004 to create a nonpartisan blanket primary in that state.  In 2008, the United States Supreme Court ruled in 
Washington State Grange v. Washington State Republican Party that Washington's Initiative 872 was constitutionally 
permissible.   Since the 2008 decision Washington State implemented the top two primary, which applies to federal, 
state and local elections, but not to presidential elections.  (Wikipedia - 
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Nonpartisan_blanket_primary#Washington_open_primary) 

 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=29.04.170
http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=29.70


councilmember, and councilmembers shall serve out their terms in 
the wards of their residences at the time of their elections: 
PROVIDED, That if this results in one ward being represented by 
more councilmembers than the number to which it is entitled 
those having the shortest unexpired terms shall be assigned by 
the council to wards where there is a vacancy, and the 
councilmembers so assigned shall be deemed to be residents of 
the wards to which they are assigned for purposes of those 
positions being vacant. The representation of each ward in the city 
council shall be in proportion to the population as nearly as is 
practicable.  
 
     Wards shall be redrawn as provided in *chapter 29.70 RCW. 
Wards shall be used as follows: (1) Only a resident of the ward 
may be a candidate for, or hold office as, a councilmember 
of the ward; and (2) only voters of the ward may vote at a 
primary to nominate candidates for a councilmember of the 
ward. Voters of the entire city may vote at the general 
election to elect a councilmember of a ward, unless the city 
had prior to January 1, 1994, limited the voting in the general 
election for any or all council positions to only voters residing 
within the ward associated with the council positions. If a city had 
so limited the voting in the general election to only voters residing 
within the ward, then the city shall be authorized to continue to do 
so. 

 
RCW 35A.12.180. 
 
The conclusion can be drawn, then, that since the charter specifically 
describes that members are elected at large, and does not describe any 
process for the voters of a district to choose the member, that the statutory 
ward process does not apply; instead the charter merely assigns a particular 
member to a particular district and requires the member to be a resident of 
the district.  This is consistent with the language of the charter amendment 
resolution which stated a desire to give the community more direct access to 
council members.  As a result, there is not conflict with state law related to 
wards.   
 
This conclusion is also consistent with the interpretation of the City’s charter 
by county officials in 2011, which held the charter to require election of all 
members at large in the primary and general election.  See Exhibit A—email 
exchange with county.   
 
If this is the case and a correct reading, the next step is to determine if the 
charter provision that requires that a candidate for a certain council member 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=29.70


position be a resident of a certain district within the City to be eligible for 
office is contrary to law.  It does not appear to be unlawful to impose such a 
condition.   
 
A city with an adopted charter has very broad legislative power akin to that of 
the state.  The authority under the charter is restricted only by the 
constitution and enactments of the state.  AGO 1991#22 (holding that a 
charter can impose term limits on candidates because the provision is not 
contrary to the Constitution or state law and is akin to an additional 
qualification that must be met by the candidate).    As in the AGO opinion, the 
residency requirement here is an additional qualification that must be met by 
the candidate.   
 
In State ExRel Griffith re Superior Court, 177 Wash. 619 (1034) the Court 
held that the Seattle charter imposing conditions that prohibited any council 
member from holding other municipal office (as in this case a school board 
director) was not unconstitutional or contrary to state law, but was an 
additional requirement for candidates.    
 
Based on this broad grant of authority and a reading of the charter that the 
candidates are not elected from the districts, but only assigned to the 
districts, the residency requirement would be a further requirement for 
candidates and would be permitted under the charter.   
 
So a requirement of a candidate’s residency in a particular ward is still lawful 
and within the authority granted to charter cities.  A City is given great 
authority to regulate its affairs by charter and a city’s interpretation of its 
charter is entitled to great weight.  A charter can contain other restrictions or 
requirements on the candidates for office so long as not contrary to state law. 
 
 

In the event the City wishes to amend the charter, can the City 
Council propose several amendments together to make the 
amendments at once or does each change need its own separate 
ballot measure? 
 

Amendments to the charter of a charter code city are governed by RCW 
35A.09.  Under that chapter, three methods are set forth for changing a 
charter.  First amendments may be initiated by the legislative body:   
 

The charter of a charter code city may be amended by proposals 
therefor submitted by resolution of the legislative authority of such city 
to the electors thereof at any general election, after publication of such 
proposed charter amendment in the manner provided in chapter 35A.08 
RCW for publication of a proposed charter, and upon notice of election 



as provided by law. If such proposed charter amendment is ratified by a 
majority of the qualified electors voting thereon it shall become a part of 
the charter organic law governing such charter code city. 

 
RCW 35A.09.010.  Such amendments are submitted to the voters at the next 
general election.  Furthermore, amendments can also be initiated by petition 
of the voters, and these amendments are also submitted to the voters at the 
next general election.  

 
A third method, which may be initiated by resolution or petition, is for 

the formation by election of a “charter commission.”  The commission is 
formed to “prepare a new or revised charter for the city by altering, revising, 
adding to, or repealing” the existing charter.  RCW 35A.09.030.  The 
commission then prepares a new or revised charter for consideration by the 
voters at the next election.   

 
There appears to be some overlap as to the type of changes that may 

be initiated by council resolution and by the charter commission.  A 
commission may prepare a new charter or repeal a charter, but both the 
council and commission may change the charter.  RCW 35A.09 (council can 
propose amendment and commission may propose to alter, revise, or add to).  
The statutes do not provide clarification and it appears that either method 
may be appropriate for alterations.  However, given the limitations of ballot 
titles and descriptions, it may be that significant unrelated amendments may 
be difficult to describe in a council resolution for amendment.  This could lead 
to the need for multiple ballot measures which would be very costly.  Whereas 
this difficulty is avoided by the charter commission, which can repeal, replace, 
or change any or all of the charter with one ballot measure.    
 

If City wishes to repeal the charter, what is the process to 
accomplish this and do all members have to run for election 
again? 

 
Here again, it appears that the statutes may overlap and provide differing 
processes.   It seems to depend on what classification of government that the 
city wishes to change to.  As I understand it, the recommended 
reclassification would be to an optional non-charter code city classification and 
keeping the manager-council plan of government.  Three methods appear to 
be described by the statutes that would accomplish this purpose.   
 
At RCW 35A.10 there is a clear process for the abandonment of the 
classification of a charter code city classification of government.  This process 
is the adoption of a resolution and the passage by the voters at the next 
election.  Importantly, however, this process seems to contemplate that the 
charter will remain and that it is the “code city” part of the classification that 



is abandoned and replaced by the classification that existed prior to becoming 
a code city.  This would not accomplish the City’s intent if this is the only 
manner that this statute can be applied.  
 

Upon the passage of a resolution of the legislative body of a charter 
code city, or upon the filing with the county auditor of a sufficient petition 
signed by registered voters of a charter code city in number equal to not less 
than ten percent of the votes cast at the last general municipal election 
therein, proposing abandonment of the classification of charter code 
city and that the city be governed under its charter and the general law 
relating to cities of the classification named in the petition or resolution, the 
legislative body thereof shall cause the propositions to be submitted to the 
voters at the next general municipal election if one is to be held within one 
hundred and eighty days or at a special election to be held for that purpose 
not less than ninety days nor more than one hundred and eighty days after the 
passage of the resolution or the filing of the certificate of sufficiency of the 
petition. Notice of election shall be given, the election conducted, and results 
declared generally as provided in chapter 35A.02 RCW, insofar as such 
provisions are applicable. If a majority of the votes cast upon such proposition 
are in favor of abandonment of the classification of charter code city, upon the 
certification of the record of election to the office of the secretary of state, 
such charter city shall be classified as a city of the class selected and shall be 
governed by the laws relating thereto. 

 
RCW 35A.10.030.  Unfortunately, however, the effect of this is only to go back 
to the earlier form of government and the charter appears to remain.   
 

“Any charter code city, which has been so classified under the provisions of 
this title for more than six years may abandon such classification and elect 
to be governed according to its charter under the general law relating to 
charter cities of the classification held by such city immediately prior to 
becoming a charter code city, if any, or may elect to be governed by the 
general law relating to charter cities of the highest class, or other class, for 
which it is qualified by population.”   

 
RCW 35A.10.010. It does not appear to offer the ability to reclassify to a non-
charter code city.   
 
 
RCW 35A.09.030 also offers a process for the repeal of a city charter using 
the charter commission election procedure.  As described above, this requires 
the formation of a commission and the commission makes recommendations 
that are submitted to the voters.  While the statute does not indicate what 
classification of city that will replace the charter, it would be reasonable to 
assume that the classification of non-charter code city could be proposed and 
approved by the voters. If no classification were proposed the City would 
likely revert back to the classification that existed prior to the charter—in this 
case a non-charter code city. 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35A.02


 
Finally, RCW 35A.02 provides what could be the easiest process if the City 
wants to change to a non-charter code city. Importantly, however, this does 
not seem to contemplate the abandonment of a charter.  Under this process 
the Council simply adopts a resolution, and if the resolution is not challenged 
by referendum of the people within 90 days, the council adopts an ordinance 
and the classification is changed.   
 

When a majority of the legislative body of an incorporated city or town 
determines that it would serve the best interests and general welfare of such 
municipality to change the classification of such city or town to that of 
non-charter code city, such legislative body may, by resolution, declare its 
intention to adopt for the city or town the classification of non-charter code 
city. If the legislative body so determines, such resolution may also contain a 
declaration of intention to reorganize the municipal government under one of 
the plans of government authorized in this title, naming such plan; but it shall 
also be lawful for the legislative body of any incorporated city or town which is 
governed under a plan of government authorized prior to the time this title 
takes effect to adopt for the city or town the classification of non-charter code 
city while retaining the same general plan of government under which such 
city or town is then operating. Within ten days after the passage of the 
resolution, the legislative body shall cause it to be published at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the city or town. Upon the expiration of 
the ninetieth day from, but excluding the date of first publication of the 
resolution, if no timely and sufficient referendum petition has been filed 
pursuant to RCW 35A.02.035, as determined by RCW 35A.29.170, the intent 
expressed in such resolution shall at the next regular meeting of the legislative 
body be effected by an ordinance adopting for the city or town the 
classification of non-charter code city; and, if the resolution includes a 
declaration of intention to reorganize, the legislative body shall provide at that 
time for such reorganization by ordinance.  

 
RCW 35A.02.030 (emphasis added).  Importantly, the provisions at 35A.02 seem 
to apply to any classification of city wishing to change to a non-charter code 
city and this would include the classification of a charter code city; this is the 
circumstance the City of Kelso would be in.  However, this process does not 
address specifically whether the applicability would change if there was a 
charter in place.  Because of the specific processes set out in other statutes 
for repealing or abandoning a charter, this seems a very simple process where 
the abandoning of the charter would not go to the voters unless there was a 
referendum passed.   
 
Also, under 35A.02, a new election of officers is only required if there is a 
reorganization of the plan of government from the manager-council form, but 
not if there is only a reclassification to non-charter code city. 
 
 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35A.02&full=true#35A.02.035
http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35A.29.170


Conclusion.   
 
Unfortunately, due to the overlapping nature of some of the governing 
statutes, there is not a clear answer to the questions you have raised.   It is 
my opinion that the City’s charter is not unlawful, but that it can be read in a 
manner that is consistent with state law and the authority under the 
constitution to be governed by a charter.  I also believe that the City can, by 
legislative act, initiate changes to the charter, but if many and varied changes 
are to be proposed, such changes would likely be better accomplished by the 
commission process.  Finally, I think that RCW 35A.02.030 describes a 
straightforward and simple process to change the classification of government 
to a non-charter code city, but seems suspect because it is contrary to the 
other statutory processes where a charter is involved.  As we discussed, it 
may be beneficial for the City to submit all or a portion of these questions to 
the Washington Attorney General for further authority and clarification before 
taking action because of the long-lasting effects of any error.   
 
Please let me know if you have any questions. 



EXHIBIT A—Email Exchange: 
 
Janeene, 
 
I’m forwarding my questions…and the opinion given to me by Monty Cobb..on to you for 
your information. 
 
As far as redistricting, our contact at the Secretary of State’s Office is: 
 
Dave Valiant 
 
1-360-786-0046 
 
David.valiant@redistricting.wa.gov 
 
I’m certain they will be able to provide some answers.  Feel free to contact me if you have 
any further questions. 
 
Carolyn Myers 
 
Cowlitz County Elections Supervisor 
 
207 N 4th Ave, Rm 107 
 
Kelso WA 98626 
 
(360)577-3002 x:2765 
 
myersc@co.cowlitz.wa.us 
 
 
From: Cobb, Monty  
Sent: Tuesday, May 24, 2011 11:18 AM 
To: Hair, Amy; Swanson, Kris; Myers, Carolyn 
Subject: FW: City of Kelso internal district primaries 
 
RCW 35A.18.020: “Councilmembers may be elected on a citywide or townwide basis, or 
from wards or districts, or any combination of these alternatives” 
 
The City has chosen all at-large representation (KMC 2.4.10) which is allowed under 
35.18.020.    
 
So, primaries are not bound to ward lines since the positions are all at-large.    
 
Primaries would be restricted to wards if council positions were ward based and not at-
large.  The municipal code does conflict with state code as to the use of wards but is 
consistent with state code as to at-large, ward-based, or a combination of at-large and 
ward-based reps.  This simply highlights an internal conflict in the state statutes as well. 

mailto:David.valiant@redistricting.wa.gov


 
For County Elections Department purposes, primaries run for City of Kelso council 
positions are district wide. 
 
 Monty Cobb 
 
Chief Civil DPA 
 
  _____   
 
From: Baur, Sue  
Sent: Monday, May 23, 2011 10:17 AM 
To: Cobb, Monty 
Subject: FW: City of Kelso internal district primaries 
 
  
 
From: Myers, Carolyn  
Sent: Friday, May 20, 2011 5:04 PM 
To: Baur, Sue 
Cc: Hair, Amy; Swanson, Kris 
Subject: FW: City of Kelso internal district primaries 
 
 
Sue, 
 
 
After attending a redistricting training yesterday and hearing from the state that cities with 
internal wards must conduct internal district primaries, my office is in need of an official 
opinion from you.   
 
 I realize this string of emails is a bit long but could you look at the RCW’s and the 
sections from the City of Kelso’s Municipal Code and 2006 Resolution pasted below and 
let us know if we should be conducting their primaries by internal district or district 
wide?  RCW seems pretty clear but the city code and resolution adopting the wards 
specifically state that all council members shall be elected at large.  Which do we follow? 
 
 
I appreciate you looking this over. 
 
 Carolyn Myers 
 
Cowlitz County Elections Supervisor 
 
207 N 4th Ave, Rm 107 
 
Kelso WA 98626 
 



(360)577-3002 x:2765 
 
myersc@co.cowlitz.wa.us 
 
 
 
From: Swanson, Kris  
Sent: Friday, May 20, 2011 3:22 PM 
To: Myers, Carolyn 
Subject: RE: City of Kelso internal district primaries 
 
 This may say it all. 
RCW 35A.12.180 
Optional division of city into wards. 
 
 
At any time not within three months previous to a municipal general election the council of 
a noncharter code city organized under this chapter may divide the city into wards or 
change the boundaries of existing wards. No change in the boundaries of wards shall 
affect the term of any councilmember, and councilmembers shall serve out their terms in 
the wards of their residences at the time of their elections: PROVIDED, That if this results 
in one ward being represented by more councilmembers than the number to which it is 
entitled those having the shortest unexpired terms shall be assigned by the council to 
wards where there is a vacancy, and the councilmembers so assigned shall be deemed 
to be residents of the wards to which they are assigned for purposes of those positions 
being vacant. The representation of each ward in the city council shall be in proportion to 
the population as nearly as is practicable.  
 
     Wards shall be redrawn as provided in *chapter 29.70 RCW. Wards shall be used as 
follows: (1) Only a resident of the ward may be a candidate for, or hold office as, a 
councilmember of the ward; and (2) only voters of the ward may vote at a primary to 
nominate candidates for a councilmember of the ward. Voters of the entire city may vote 
at the general election to elect a councilmember of a ward, unless the city had prior to 
January 1, 1994, limited the voting in the general election for any or all council positions 
to only voters residing within the ward associated with the council positions. If a city had 
so limited the voting in the general election to only voters residing within the ward, then 
the city shall be authorized to continue to do so.  
 
[1994 c 223 § 34; 1967 ex.s. c 119 § 35A.12.180.] 
 
 
Notes: 
 
     *Reviser's note: Chapter 29.70 RCW was recodified as chapter 29A.76 RCW 
pursuant to 2003 c 111 § 2401, effective July 1, 2004 

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=29.70
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35A.12.180
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=29.70
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=29A.76


 
 _____   
 
From: Myers, Carolyn  
Sent: Friday, May 20, 2011 1:58 PM 
To: Swanson, Kris 
Cc: McLaughlin, Terry; Hair, Amy 
Subject: City of Kelso internal district primaries 
 
  
I overheard the State say that cities with internal wards conduct their Primaries by internal 
district.  I tried blocking it from my mind, pretending that I didn’t hear it but that hasn’t 
worked so I looked up some RCW’s and have pasted them below….not good news.   
 
 Looking at their municipal code and the resolution they adopted in 2006, it specifically 
states their council members will be elected at large (I’ve pasted both below).  By writing 
this into their code and charter, can they exclude themselves from conducting internal 
district primaries?  Are you comfortable with this Kris or should I send this to Sue for an 
official opinion? 
  
 
Municipal Code 
 
2.04.010 Election of councilmembers—Terms. 
 
A. In the election of city councilmembers, all seven shall be elected at large for four-year 
terms subject to the provisions of Kelso City Charter Section 2.01. 
 
B. The four-year terms shall commence and terminate as provided in RCW 29.04.170. 
 
C. The city council shall have the powers and authority granted to it in the Kelso City 
Charter. (Ord. 3279 § 2(g)–(i), 1995) 
 
  
 
Resolution 06-926 
 
2.02 Composition, Eligibility, Election and Terms. 
 
(a) Composition. There shall be a city council composed of seven members to be elected 
at large. Four council members shall be assigned to certain geographic districts for liaison 
purposes to improve communications between City government and Kelso citizens as 
follows: Position #1 shall be assigned to the “south district,” which shall consist of that 
area within the city limits between the Cowlitz River east to Interstate 5 and Allen Street 
south to the city limits. Position #3 shall be assigned to the “west district,” which shall 
consist of that area within the city limits between the Cowlitz River west to the City limits. 
Position #5 shall be assigned to the “east district,” which shall consist of that area within 
the city limits between Interstate 5 east to the city 



 
limits to the east, north and south. Position #6 shall be assigned to the “north district” 
which shall consist of that area within the city limits between the Cowlitz River east to 
Interstate 5 and Allen Street North to the City Limits. The mayor shall be elected as 
provided in Section 2.03. 
 
(b) Eligibility. Only those registered voters of the city who shall have resided in the city for 
one year prior to the election shall be eligible to hold the office of council member. For 
those council member positions elected from districts, only those registered voters who 
shall have resided in the respective district for one year prior to the election shall be 
eligible to hold the office of council member. 
 
(c) Election. The registered electors of the city shall elect a council of seven members, at 
large in the following manner. At the election approving this Charter, the candidates 
receiving the highest number of votes for each position shall serve. In the event of a tie 
vote, the election shall be decided by lot.  Such lot shall be conducted no later than the 
second Tuesday after certification of the election. 
 
(d) Terms. Candidates for positions 1, 2 and 3 shall be elected for a four-year term. In 
order to stagger the terms of office, candidates for positions 4, 5, 6 and 7 shall be elected 
for a two- year term. After completion of this initial term, the term of office for positions 4, 
5, 6 and 7 will be for four years. 
 
  
 
RCW 35.18.020 
Number of councilmembers -- Wards, districts -- Terms -- Vacancies.  
 
(1) The number of councilmembers in a city or town operating with a council-manager 
plan of government shall be based upon the latest population of the city or town that is 
determined by the office of financial management as follows: 
 
     (a) A city or town having not more than two thousand inhabitants, five 
councilmembers; and 
 
     (b) A city or town having more than two thousand, seven councilmembers. 
 
     (2) Except for the initial staggering of terms, councilmembers shall serve for four-year 
terms of office. All councilmembers shall serve until their successors are elected and 
qualified and assume office in accordance with *RCW 29.04.170. Councilmembers may 
be elected on a citywide or townwide basis, or from wards or districts, or any combination 
of these alternatives. Candidates shall run for specific positions. Wards or districts shall 
be redrawn as provided in **chapter 29.70 RCW. Wards or districts shall be used as 
follows: (a) Only a resident of the ward or district may be a candidate for, or hold office as, 
a councilmember of the ward or district; and (b) only voters of the ward or district may 
vote at a primary to nominate candidates for a councilmember of the ward or district. 
Voters of the entire city or town may vote at the general election to elect a councilmember 
of a ward or district, unless the city or town had prior to January 1, 1994, limited the voting 

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29.04.170
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29.70


in the general election for any or all council positions to only voters residing within the 
ward or district associated with the council positions. If a city or town had so limited the 
voting in the general election to only voters residing within the ward or district, then the 
city or town shall be authorized to continue to do so. 
 
     (3) When a city or town has qualified for an increase in the number of councilmembers 
from five to seven by virtue of the next succeeding population determination made by the 
office of financial management, two additional council positions shall be filled at the next 
municipal general election with the person elected to one of the new council positions 
receiving the greatest number of votes being elected for a four-year term of office and the 
person elected to the other additional council position being elected for a two-year term of 
office. The two additional councilmembers shall assume office immediately when qualified 
in accordance with *RCW 29.01.135, but the term of office shall be computed from the 
first day of January after the year in which they are elected. Their successors shall be 
elected to four-year terms of office. 
 
     Prior to the election of the two new councilmembers, the city or town council shall fill 
the additional positions by appointment not later than forty-five days following the release 
of the population determination, and each appointee shall hold office only until the new 
position is filled by election. 
 
     (4) When a city or town has qualified for a decrease in the number of councilmembers 
from seven to five by virtue of the next succeeding population determination made by the 
office of financial management, two council positions shall be eliminated at the next 
municipal general election if four council positions normally would be filled at that election, 
or one council position shall be eliminated at each of the next two succeeding municipal 
general elections if three council positions normally would be filled at the first municipal 
general election after the population determination. The council shall by ordinance 
indicate which, if any, of the remaining positions shall be elected at-large or from wards or 
districts. 
 
     (5) Vacancies on a council shall occur and shall be filled as provided in chapter 42.12 
RCW.  
 
[1994 c 223 § 12; 1981 c 260 § 7. Prior: 1979 ex.s. c 126 § 19; 1979 c 151 § 26; 1956 c 7 
§35.18.020 ; prior: 1959 c 76 § 1; 1955 c 337 § 3; prior: (i) 1943 c 271 § 6; Rem. Supp. 
1943 § 9198-15. (ii) 1943 c 271 § 4, part; Rem. Supp. 1943 § 9198-13, part.] 
 
NOTES:  
 
Reviser's note: *(1) RCW 29.04.170 and 29.01.135 were recodified as RCW 29A.20.040 
and 29A.04.133, respectively, pursuant to 2003 c 111 § 2401, effective July 1, 2004. 
 
     **(2) Chapter 29.70 RCW was recodified as chapter 29A.76 RCW pursuant to 2003 c 
111 § 2401, effective July 1, 2004.  
 
Purpose -- 1979 ex.s. c 126: See RCW 29A.20.040(1).  
 

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29.01.135
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=42.12
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35.18.020
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29.04.170
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29.01.135
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29A.20.040
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29A.04.133
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29.70
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29A.76
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29A.20.040


Population determinations, office of financial management: Chapter 43.62 RCW.  
 
Times for holding elections: RCW 29A.04.311 through 29A.04.330.  
 
  
 
  
 
RCW 35A.12.180 
Optional division of city into wards.  
 
At any time not within three months previous to a municipal general election the council of 
a noncharter code city organized under this chapter may divide the city into wards or 
change the boundaries of existing wards. No change in the boundaries of wards shall 
affect the term of any councilmember, and councilmembers shall serve out their terms in 
the wards of their residences at the time of their elections: PROVIDED, That if this results 
in one ward being represented by more councilmembers than the number to which it is 
entitled those having the shortest unexpired terms shall be assigned by the council to 
wards where there is a vacancy, and the councilmembers so assigned shall be deemed 
to be residents of the wards to which they are assigned for purposes of those positions 
being vacant. The representation of each ward in the city council shall be in proportion to 
the population as nearly as is practicable.  
 
     Wards shall be redrawn as provided in *chapter 29.70 RCW. Wards shall be used as 
follows: (1) Only a resident of the ward may be a candidate for, or hold office as, a 
councilmember of the ward; and (2) only voters of the ward may vote at a primary to 
nominate candidates for a councilmember of the ward. Voters of the entire city may vote 
at the general election to elect a councilmember of a ward, unless the city had prior to 
January 1, 1994, limited the voting in the general election for any or all council positions 
to only voters residing within the ward associated with the council positions. If a city had 
so limited the voting in the general election to only voters residing within the ward, then 
the city shall be authorized to continue to do so.  
 
[1994 c 223 § 34; 1967 ex.s. c 119 § 35A.12.180.] 
 
NOTES:  
 
*Reviser's note: Chapter 29.70 RCW was recodified as chapter 29A.76 RCW pursuant 
to 2003 c 111 § 2401, effective July 1, 2004. 
 
  
 
  
 
Carolyn Myers 
 
Cowlitz County Elections Supervisor 
 

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=43.62
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29A.04.311
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29A.04.330
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29.70
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35A.12.180
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29.70
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=29A.76


207 N 4th Ave, Rm 107 
 
Kelso WA 98626 
 
(360)577-3002 x:2765 
 
myersc@co.cowlitz.wa.us 
 
  
 
 



CITY OF KELSO CHARTER 2006—Grayed areas note differences Applicable Statutes  
TABLE OF CONTENTS  
ARTICLE I       GOVERNMENT  
1.01 Incorporation.   
The municipal corporation now existing and known as Kelso shall 
remain and continue a body politic and corporate in name and in 
fact by the name of KELSO. 

   

1.02 Powers of the City.   
The city shall have all the powers granted to charter code cities by 
the constitution and general laws of the state and all powers 
implied hereby, and shall exercise all municipal functions and have 
all municipal rights, privileges, and immunities except as 
prohibited by law or by this charter. The enumeration of particular 
powers by this charter shall not be deemed to be exclusive. The 
city shall directly or indirectly provide for police, fire and public 
safety services and for public works and improvements. 

35A.11.020-030 
 
Generally duty for all governmental 
functions 

1.03 Construction.   
The powers of the city under this charter shall be construed 
liberally in favor of the city, and the specific mention of particular 
powers in the charter shall not be construed as limiting in any way 
the general power granted in this article. 

Statutes liberally construe as well. 

1.04 Intergovernmental Relations.   
The city may exercise any of its powers or perform any of its 
functions and may participate in the financing thereof, jointly or in 
cooperation, by contract or otherwise, with any governmental 
entity or agency. 

35A.11.021 and 39.34 

1.05 Form of Government.   
The government provided by this Charter shall be the Council-
Manager form. 

Form and classification set by 
formation documents and can be 
changed by processes of statute 

ARTICLE II     CITY COUNCIL  
2.01 General Powers and Duties.   
All powers of the city shall be vested in the city council, except as 
otherwise provided by law or this charter, and the council shall 
provide for the exercise thereof and for the performance of all 
duties and obligations imposed on the city by law. 

RCW 35A.13 gives some powers to 
City Manager 

2.02 Composition, Eligibility, Election and Terms.
 

 

(a) Composition. There shall be a city council composed of seven 
members to be elected at large. Four council members shall be 
assigned to certain geographic districts for liaison purposes to 
improve communications between City government and Kelso 
citizens as follows: Position No. 1 shall be assigned to the “south 
district,” which shall consist of that area within the city limits 
between the Cowlitz River east to Interstate 5 and Allen Street 
south to the city limits. Position No. 3 shall be assigned to the 

35A.13.010 
 
Unique—Not the Ward system of the 
statute at 35A.18.020 and 
35A.12.180. 



“west district,” which shall consist of that area within the city 
limits between the Cowlitz River west to the City limits. Position 
No. 5 shall be assigned to the “east district,” which shall consist of 
that area within the city limits between Interstate 5 east to the city 
limits to the east, north, and south. Position No. 6 shall be 
assigned to the “north district,” which shall consist of that area 
within the city limits between the Cowlitz River east to Interstate 5 
and Allen Street north to the city limits. The mayor shall be elected 
as provided in Section 2.03. 
(b) Eligibility. Only those registered voters of the city who shall 
have resided in the city for one year prior to the election shall be 
eligible to hold the office of council member. For those council 
member positions elected from districts, only those registered 
voters who shall have resided in the respective district for one 
year prior to the election shall be eligible to hold the office of 
council member. 

35A.12.030 
 
Unique—see comment above 

(c) Election. The registered electors of the city shall elect a council 
of seven members, at large in the following manner. At the 
election approving this Charter, the candidates receiving the 
highest number of votes for each position shall serve. In the event 
of a tie vote, the election shall be decided by lot. Such lot shall be 
conducted no later than the second Tuesday after certification of 
the election. 

First election only—no longer 
applicable 

(d) Terms. Candidates for positions 1, 2 and 3 shall be elected for a 
four-year term. In order to stagger the terms of office, candidates 
for positions 4, 5, 6 and 7 shall be elected for a two-year term. 
After completion of this initial term, the term of office for 
positions 4, 5, 6 and 7 will be for four years. 

35A.02.050 and 35A.12.040 

2.03 Mayor.   
At its first meeting in January following their election to office, the 
city council shall elect from among its members officers of the city 
who shall have the titles of mayor and deputy mayor, each of 
whom shall serve at the pleasure of the council for two years or 
until removed from the office by a vote of no less than four 
members of the council. The mayor shall preside at meetings of 
the council, represent the city in intergovernmental relationships, 
appoint with the advice and consent of the council the members 
of citizen advisory boards and commissions, present an annual 
state of the city message, and other duties specified by the 
council. The mayor shall be recognized as head of the city 
government for purposes of military law but shall have no 
administrative duties. The deputy mayor shall act as mayor during 
the absence or disability of the mayor. 

35A.13.030 

2.04 Compensation; Expenses.   
The city council may determine the annual salary of the mayor and 
council members by ordinance, but no ordinance increasing such 
salary shall become effective until the date of commencement of 

35A.13.040 



the terms of council members elected at the next regular election. 
The mayor and council members shall be eligible for only 
authorized expenses incurred in the performance of their duties of 
office. 
2.05 Prohibitions.   
(a) Holding Other Office. Except where authorized by law, no 
council member shall hold any other elected public office during 
the term for which the member was elected to the council. No 
council member shall hold any other City of Kelso office or City of 
Kelso employment during the term for which the member was 
elected to the council. No former council member shall hold any 
compensated appointive office or employment with the city until 
one year after the expiration of the term for which the member 
was elected to the council. Nothing in this section shall be 
construed to prohibit the council from selecting any current or 
former council member to represent the city on the appointive 
governing boards of other regional or intergovernmental agencies. 

35A.12.020—No other City Office 
 
Caselaw—Doctrine of incompatible 
offices.  Allowed unless the offices 
are incompatible—5 part test.   

(b) Appointments and Removals. Neither the city council nor any 
of its members shall in any manner control or demand the 
appointment or removal of any city administrative officer or 
employee whom the city manager or any subordinate of the city 
manager is empowered to appoint, but the council may express its 
views and fully and freely discuss with the city manager anything 
pertaining to appointment and removal of such officers and 
employees. 

35A.13.110 

(c) Interference with Administration. Except for the purpose of 
inquiries, the council or its members shall deal with city officers 
and employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of 
the city manager solely through the city manager, and neither the 
council nor its members shall give orders to any such officer or 
employee, either publicly or privately. 

35A.13.120 

2.06 Vacancies; Forfeiture of Office; Filing of Vacancies.
 

 

(a) Vacancies. The office of a council member shall become vacant 
upon the member’s death, resignation, removal from office or 
forfeiture of office in any manner authorized by law; in addition, 
the office of a council member shall also become vacant if any 
council member fails to attend six scheduled regular and/or 
special meetings of the council during a calendar year unless on 
authorized City-related business, which shall be approved by a 
majority of the council. In the event that a duly elected council 
member elected by a district no longer resides within that 
respective district, said council member may serve as a council 
member until the next election, at which time the position shall be 
deemed vacant. 

RCW 35A.13.020 (3 consecutive 
meetings without excuse by council 
35A.12.060) 
 



(b) Forfeiture of Office. A council member shall forfeit that office if 
the council member: 
(1) lacks at any time during the term of office any qualification for 
the office prescribed by this charter or by law; or 
(2) violates any express prohibition of this charter; or 
(3) is convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude; or 
(4) discloses matters discussed in any executive session, unless 
authorized by a majority vote of the council. 

42.12.010 (slightly different) 

(c) Filling of Vacancies. A vacancy in the city council shall be filled 
for the remainder of the unexpired term, if any, at the next regular 
election following not less than 60 days upon the occurrence of 
the vacancy, but the council by a majority vote of all its remaining 
members shall appoint a qualified person to fill the vacancy until 
the person elected to serve the remainder of the unexpired term 
takes office. The council may appoint a council member not 
residing in the district from which a council member position 
elected by a district is vacated, provided that no other qualified 
candidate from said district seeks appointment. 

42.12 

2.07 Judge of Qualifications.   
The City Council shall be the judge of the qualifications of its 
members. The Council shall have the power to set additional 
standards of conduct for its members beyond those specified in 
the charter and may provide for such penalties as it deems 
appropriate, including forfeiture of office. A member charged with 
conduct constituting grounds for forfeiture of office shall be 
entitled to a public hearing on demand. Decisions made by the 
council under this section shall be subject to judicial review. 

35A.13.020  Registered voter and 
resident for one year.  
 
42.12.010 
 

2.08 Independent Audit.   
The city council shall provide for an independent annual audit of 
all city accounts and may provide for more frequent audits as it 
deems necessary. Such audits shall be made by a certified public 
accountant or firm of such accountants who have no personal 
interest, direct or indirect, in the fiscal affairs of the city 
government or any of its officers. The council may, without 
requiring competitive bids, designate such accountant or firm 
annually or for a period not exceeding three years, but the 
designation for any particular fiscal year shall be made no later 
than 30 days after the beginning of such fiscal year. If the State 
makes such an audit, the council may accept it as satisfying the 
requirements of this section. 

Believe other statute governs.  
35A.33 and state audit process 

2.09 Procedure.   
(a) Meetings. The council shall meet regularly at least once in 
every month at such times and places as the council may prescribe 
by rule. Special meetings may be held on the call of the mayor or 
two or more members, provided notice of such meetings is given 
in accordance with State law. Except as allowed by state law, all 
meetings shall be public, with a portion of the meeting set aside 

35A.12.110 



for public comment. 
(b) Rules and Journal. The city council shall determine its own rules 
and order of business and shall provide for keeping a journal of its 
proceedings. This journal shall be a public record. 

35A.39.010 

(c) Voting. Voting, except on procedural motions, shall be by roll 
call and the ayes and nays shall be recorded in the journal. Four 
members of the council shall constitute a quorum. No action of 
the council shall be valid or binding unless adopted by a majority 
of those present, except where a majority vote of the entire 
council is required by State law. Every Council member including 
the Mayor shall vote. Abstentions are not allowed except for 
conflict of interest, which shall be determined by the City 
Attorney. 

35A.12.120 
 
Abstentions allowed unless 
prohibited by local rule.   

2.10 Action Requiring an Ordinance.   
In addition to other acts required by law or by specific provision of 
this charter to be done by ordinance, those acts of the city council 
shall be by ordinance which: 

 

(1) Adopt or amend an administrative code or establish, alter, or 
abolish any city department, office or agency; 

35.21.520 

(2) Provide for a fine or other penalty or establish a rule or 
regulation for violation of which a fine or other penalty is imposed; 

 

(3) Levy taxes;  
(4) Grant, renew or extend a franchise;  
(5) Regulate the rate charged for its services by a public utility;  
(6) Authorize the borrowing of money;  
(7) Convey or lease or authorize the conveyance or lease of any 
lands of the city; 

 

(8) Regulate land use and development; and  
(9) Amend or repeal any ordinance previously adopted.  
Acts other than those referred to in the preceding sentence may 
be done either by ordinance or by resolution. 

 

2.11 Ordinances in General.   
(a) Form. Every proposed ordinance shall be introduced in writing 
and in the form required for final adoption. No ordinance shall 
contain more than one subject which shall be clearly expressed in 
its title. The enacting clause shall be “The City of Kelso hereby 
ordains . . .”. Any ordinance which repeals or amends an existing 
ordinance or part of the city code shall set out in full the 
ordinance, sections or subsections to be repealed or amended, 
and shall indicate matters to be omitted by enclosing it in brackets 
or by strikeout type and shall indicate new matters by 
underscoring or by italics. 

35A.12.130 

(b) Procedure. At First Reading, the title of such ordinance shall be 
read and upon request of any person present shall be read in full. 
Copies of all such proposed ordinances shall be kept available to 
the public at the office of the city clerk. Ordinances granting a 
franchise shall be published once each week for three consecutive 

First and Second reading is 
convention and not required by law. 
Can be prescribed by rule.  



weeks prior to finally passing such ordinance. 
At the Second Reading, the title of such ordinance shall be read, or 
upon the request of any person present, the clerk shall read the 
proposed ordinance in full. All persons interested shall be given an 
opportunity to be heard on the proposed ordinance. 

 

After such opportunity for public comment, the city council may 
pass such ordinance, with or without amendment. Passage of an 
ordinance requires at least a majority vote in its favor and the vote 
shall be taken by yeas and nays, and entered in the public journal 
of city council proceedings. Every ordinance or resolution passed 
by the city council shall be signed by the mayor and filed with the 
city clerk, who shall record the same. When an ordinance fails to 
pass and a motion is made to reconsider, the vote upon such 
motion shall not be acted upon before the next meeting of the city 
council. 

35A.12.130 

(c) Effective Date. Except as otherwise provided in this charter, 
every adopted ordinance shall become effective 5 days after 
publication of the summary of the ordinance or at any later date 
specified therein. All ordinances shall be published promptly. 

35A.12.130 and 160 

(d) “Publish” Defined. As used in this section, the term “publish” 
means to print in one or more newspapers of general circulation in 
the city: (1) The summary of the ordinance thereof, and (2) the 
places where copies of it have been filed and the times when they 
are available for public inspection and purchase at a reasonable 
price. 

 

2.12 Emergency Ordinance.   
To meet a public emergency affecting life, health, property or the 
public peace, the city council may adopt one or more emergency 
ordinances, but such ordinances may not levy taxes, grant, renew 
or extend a franchise, regulate the rate charged by any public 
utility for its services or authorize the borrowing of money. An 
emergency ordinance shall be introduced in the form and manner 
prescribed for ordinances generally, except that it shall be plainly 
designated as an emergency ordinance and shall contain, after the 
enacting clause, a declaration stating that an emergency exists and 
describing it in clear and specific terms. An emergency ordinance 
may be adopted with or without amendment or rejected at the 
meeting at which it is introduced, but the affirmative vote of at 
least five members shall be required for adoption. After its 
adoption, a summary of the ordinance shall be published and 
printed as prescribed for other adopted ordinances. Every 
emergency ordinance shall automatically stand repealed as of the 
61st day following the date on which it was adopted, but this shall 
not prevent reenactment of the ordinance in the manner specified 
in this section if the emergency still exists. An emergency 
ordinance may also be repealed by adoption of a repealing 
ordinance in the same manner specified in this section for 

35A.12.130 
 
At state law, emergency ordinances 
do not require supermajority and are 
not automatically repealed.   



adoption of emergency ordinances. An emergency ordinance shall 
become effective upon adoption or at such later time as it may 
specify. 
2.13 Codes of Technical Regulations.   
The city council may adopt any standard code of technical 
regulations by reference thereto in an adopting ordinance. The 
procedure and requirements governing such an adopting 
ordinance shall be as prescribed for ordinances generally except 
that: 

35A.12.140 

(1) The requirements of Section 2.12 for distribution and filing of 
copies of the ordinance shall be construed to include copies of the 
code of technical regulations as well as of the adopting ordinance, 
and 

 

(2) A copy of each adopted code of technical regulations as well as 
of the adopting ordinance shall be authenticated and recorded by 
the city clerk. 

 

Copies of any adopted code of technical regulations shall be made 
available by the city clerk for distribution or for purchase at a 
reasonable price. 

 

2.14 Authentication and Recording; Codification; Printing.
 

 

(a) Authentication and Recording. The city clerk shall authenticate 
by signing and shall record in full in a properly indexed book kept 
for the purpose all ordinances and resolutions adopted by the city 
council. 

35A.12.150 

(b) Codification. Regularly the city council shall provide for the 
preparation of a general codification of all city ordinances having 
the force and effect of law. The general codification shall be 
adopted by the council by ordinance and shall be published 
promptly in bound or loose-leaf form, together with this charter 
and any amendments thereto, pertinent provisions of the 
constitution and other laws of the State of Washington, and such 
codes of technical regulations and other rules and regulations as 
the council may specify. This compilation shall be known and cited 
officially as the Kelso City Code. Copies of the code shall be 
furnished to city officers placed in libraries and public offices for 
free public reference and made available for purchase by the 
public at a reasonable price fixed by the council. 

35A.12.130; 500-570 

(c) Printing of Ordinances. The city council shall cause each 
ordinance having the force and effect of law and each amendment 
to this charter to be printed promptly following its adoption, and 
the printed ordinances and charter amendments shall be 
distributed or sold to the public at reasonable prices as fixed by 
the council. Following publication of the first Kelso City Code and 
at all times thereafter, the ordinances and Charter amendments 
shall be printed in substantially the same style as the code 
currently in effect and shall be suitable in form for integration 

Statute has codification process—
not sure if this printing statute is 
required by statute.   
Copies of ordinances addressed by 
public records act at 42.56 



therein. The council shall make such further arrangements as it 
deems desirable with respect to reproduction and distribution of 
any current changes in or additions to the provisions of the 
constitution and other laws of the State of Washington, or the 
codes of technical regulations and other rules and regulations 
included in the code. 
ARTICLE III 
CITY MANAGER 

 

3.01 City Manager—Appointment.   
The council shall appoint a chief administrative officer of the city 
who shall have the title of “city manager” and who shall serve at 
the pleasure of the council. The appointment shall require the 
affirmative vote of no less than four members of the council. The 
manager shall be chosen solely on the basis of demonstrated 
qualifications as an administrator with particular emphasis on 
training and actual experience as a professional municipal 
administrator. The manager need not be a resident of the state 
when appointed, but during the tenure of office, the manager shall 
reside within the city. No councilmember shall be eligible for 
appointment as manager within two years following the expiration 
of his/her latest term as councilmember. 

35A.13.050—residency waivable and 
1 year instead of two  

3.02 City Manager—Removal.   
The council may remove the manager from office in accordance 
with the following procedure: 

35A.13.130—slightly different.  
Majority vote and 30 days for filing a 
reply  

(1) By first adopting by the affirmative vote of at least four of its 
members a preliminary resolution stating the reasons for the 
manager’s removal. This resolution may also suspend the manager 
from duty. In either case, the manager shall continue to receive a 
salary until the final resolution of removal is adopted. 

 

(2) Within fifteen days the manager may file with the council a 
reply in writing and request a public hearing. This hearing shall be 
held not earlier than fifteen days nor later than thirty days after 
filing the request. 

 

(3) Not less than thirty days after the date of adoption of the 
preliminary resolution and after such public hearing, if any, the 
council by the affirmative vote of at least four of its members may 
adopt a final resolution of removal, at which time the manager 
shall be paid any balance of salary then due or accrued and an 
additional amount equal to two months’ salary or as specified by 
an employment contract. 

 

3.03 Acting City Manager.   
In the event of the absence, suspension, or disability of the 
manager, or if a vacancy should occur in the office, the council 
may designate a qualified administrative officer of the city to 
perform the duties of the office until the manager shall return to 
duty or until the appointment of a successor. 

35A.13.150 



3.04 Powers and Duties of City Manager.   
The manager shall be the head of the administrative branch of the 
city government. The manager shall be responsible to the council 
for the proper administration of all city affairs under the 
manager’s jurisdiction. Subject to the personnel provisions of this 
Charter, the manager shall: 

35A.13.080—powers stated 
differently in statute, but nothing 
appears to be substantively different 
that powers conferred by statute. 

(1) Give general direction to the programs and activities of all city 
departments and offices under the manager’s jurisdiction. The 
manager shall update and maintain a city policy and procedures 
manual which shall assist employees in carrying out such programs 
and activities; 

 

(2) Serve as personnel officer of the city and administer the city 
personnel system, unless the council on the recommendation of 
the manager authorizes the appointment of a personnel officer to 
administer the system; 

 

(3) Appoint, and when the best interests of the city require, 
remove officers and employees of the city unless otherwise 
provided by this Charter or by general laws. The manager may 
authorize the head of a department or office to appoint and 
remove subordinates in such department or office; 

 

(4) Prepare the annual budgets, including a five-year capital 
expense budget, and submit them to the council. Upon adoption 
of any budget by the council, the manager shall be responsible for 
its administration; 

 

(5) Prepare and submit to the council, at the close of each fiscal 
year, a complete report on the finances and administrative 
activities of the city for the preceding year; 

 

(6) Keep the council informed on the financial condition and 
present and future needs of the city, making such 
recommendations as deemed desirable; 

 

(7) Perform such other duties as may be prescribed by this charter 
or required by the council, not inconsistent with this Charter; 

 

(8) Be authorized to sign such documents as necessary to execute 
City business, subject to approval by a majority of the city council. 

 

ARTICLE IV 
ADMINISTRATION 

 

4.01 General Provisions.   
(a) Creation of Departments. The city council may establish city 
departments, offices or agencies in addition to those created by 
this charter and may prescribe the functions of all departments, 
offices and agencies, except that no function assigned by this 
charter to a particular department, office or agency may be 
discontinued or, unless this charter specifically so provides, 
assigned to any other. 

35A.13.090 

(b) Direction by City Manager. All departments, offices and 
agencies under the direction and supervision of the city manager 
shall be administered by an officer appointed by and subject to the 

35A.13.080—Manager appoints 
department heads and staff as 
needed-within manager discretion 



direction and supervision of the manager. With the consent of city 
council, the city manager may serve as the head of one or more 
such departments, offices or agencies or may appoint one person 
as the head of two or more of them. 

 
35A.13.090 requires only clerk and 
police and provision for legal.   

4.02 Personnel System.   
(a) Merit Principle. All appointments and promotions of city 
officers and employees shall be made solely on the basis of merit 
and fitness demonstrated by a valid and reliable examination or 
other evidence of competence. 

 

(b) Merit System. Consistent with all applicable federal and state 
laws, the city council shall provide by ordinance for the 
establishment, regulation and maintenance of a merit system 
governing personnel policies necessary to effective administration 
of the employees of the city’s departments, offices and agencies, 
including but not limited to classification and pay plans, 
examinations, force reduction, removals, working conditions, 
provisional and exempt appointments, in-service training, 
grievances and relationships with employee organizations. 

RCW 41.12 sets out civil service 
requirements for police.   
 
41.56 addresses collective 
bargaining.   

4.03 Legal Officer.   
The manager, subject to the approval of the council, shall appoint 
or remove the city attorney who shall be an attorney admitted and 
qualified to practice before the Supreme Court of the State of 
Washington. The city attorney shall: 

35A.13.090 says CM to recommend 
to Council who appoints or makes 
provisions—duties not specified 

(1) Act as legal advisor to and counsel for the council and manager 
in matters relating to their official duties; 

 

(2) Represent the city in litigation in which the city is interested, 
unless the manager, with the approval of the council, otherwise 
provides; 

 

(3) Provide legal opinions on official matters when requested by 
the council or manager; 

 

(4) Draft and review for legal correctness, contracts, bonds, 
franchises, and other instruments to which the city is a party; 

 

(5) Draft ordinances as requested by city council;  
(6) Perform such other duties as may be assigned by the 
administrative code or otherwise by general laws or ordinances. 

 

4.04 Planning.   
There shall be a city planner who shall be appointed by the city 
manager to assist the mayor, city council, and the planning 
commission as a technical advisor regarding the city’s 
comprehensive plan, zoning, and capital improvements; prepare 
reports and recommendations relative to annexation review and 
urban renewal plans and projects; and shall have such further 
powers and perform other duties as may be prescribed by 
ordinance. The city planner shall have an educational background 
and practical experience commensurate with the responsibility of 
the position. 

RCW 35A.63 requires a planning 
agency that can be a department 
and staff or body or board  (Planning 
commission) appointed by the 
legislative body to perform the 
planning function.   

4.05 City Clerk.   



The city manager shall appoint an officer for the city who shall 
have the title of city clerk. The city clerk shall give notice of council 
meetings to its members and the public, keep a journal of its 
proceedings and perform such other duties as are assigned by this 
charter or by the council or the city manager, or by state law. 

35A.13.090 

ARTICLE V 
FINANCIAL PROCEDURES 

Generally fiscal procedures detailed 
in 35A.33 and .34 

5.01 Fiscal Year.   
The fiscal year of the city of Kelso shall be set by ordinance not in 
conflict with general laws. 

35A.21.170 set by statute 

5.02 Budget.   
The annual budget shall be prepared and presented to the council 
by the manager and acted upon in the manner and within the time 
limits prescribed by general laws. The manager shall attach to each 
budget such supporting data and explanatory material relating to 
current operations, capital improvements, and other phases of the 
budget as may be deemed appropriate. 

35A.13.080    
 
 
35.77. 

The manager shall annually prepare and present to the council a 
program of proposed capital projects for the five fiscal years next 
succeeding the budget year, with cost estimates relating thereto. 
This shall be known as the capital expense budget. 

 

5.03 Budget Control.   
At the beginning of each quarterly period during the fiscal year, 
and more often if required by the council, the manager shall 
submit to the council data showing the relation between the 
estimated income and expenses and actual income and expenses 
to date. If it shall appear that the income is less than anticipated, 
the council may reduce or transfer appropriations, except 
amounts required to meet conditional obligations and for debt 
service, interest, and other fixed charges, to keep expenditures 
within cash income. 

35A.33.140 

5.04 Accounting and Auditing.   
The manager shall be in charge of the administration of the 
financial affairs of the city and shall be responsible for maintaining 
proper books and records, for accounting, and for auditing all 
transactions affecting the city. Reserves for depreciation may be 
established in accordance with sound accounting practices. 

 

5.05 Fiscal Control.   
The manager shall appoint a director of finance who shall 
supervise the receipt, custody, and disbursement of all city funds 
and perform such other duties as may be required by general laws, 
this Charter, the council, or the manager. 

Believe not required by statute—
further review 

5.06 Fees and Collection.   
All fees and other moneys collected by any officer or employee 
shall belong to the city and shall be paid immediately to the 
finance director. 

Believe governed by other statute—
further review  



5.07 Purchases.   
Except as otherwise provided in this Charter, the manager shall be 
responsible for all city purchasing, but this authority may be 
delegated to a city purchasing officer. 

35A.13.080 

5.08 Competitive Bidding.  39.12 and 39.04 govern 
All contracts where the total contract is in excess of limits set by 
State law and all purchase of supplies, material, equipment, or 
nonprofessional services where the total cost exceeds the 
limits prescribed by State law shall be subject to sealed bids. 

 

Bids shall be advertised by posting notice thereof in a public place 
in the city and by not less than one publication in the official 
newspaper of the city at least ten days prior to the date fixed for 
the opening of bids. All bids shall be sealed and shall be opened 
publicly at the time and place designated in the call for bids. The 
manager, or the manager’s representative, shall analyze the bids 
and provide the council with a summary thereof. Except as 
hereinafter provided, the contract shall be awarded to the lowest 
responsible bidder. The council may reject any or all bids. 

 

5.09 Bonds and Indebtedness.  Believe governed by state law.—
Further research to determine 
differences 

The creation of indebtedness and the issuance of all bonds, 
warrants, and other evidences of indebtedness shall be governed 
and controlled by general laws. 

 

No contract shall be executed, the payment of which will be 
financed by the issuance of bonds, warrants, or other evidences of 
indebtedness, until the ordinance authorizing the issuance of such 
bonds or other evidences of indebtedness shall have taken effect. 
Any contract executed before such time shall be unenforceable. 

 

5.10 Sale of Bonds.   
Subject to general laws, bonds, warrants, and other evidences of 
indebtedness may be sold at public or private sale in any manner 
and at any price the council deems the best interests of the city 
require. 

 

5.11 Taxes and Indebtedness.   
The city shall have all the powers granted to, or not withheld from, 
charter code cities by the Constitution and laws of the state in the 
levying and collection of taxes and incurring of indebtedness. 

 

ARTICLE VI 
ELECTIONS 

 

6.01 City Elections.   
The regular city election shall be held at the time established by 
state law. 

 

6.02 Initiative and Referendum.   
The powers of initiative and referendum are hereby reserved to 
the electors of the city. Laws of the State of Washington, as they 

35A.11.080 



currently exist or may hereafter be amended or superseded, shall 
govern the exercise of the powers of initiative and referendum 
under this charter. 
ARTICLE VII 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

7.01 Conflicts of Interest.   
The use of public office for private gain is prohibited. The city 
council shall implement this prohibition by ordinance. Regulations 
to this end shall include but not be limited to: acting in an official 
capacity on matters in which the official has a private financial 
interest clearly separate from that of the general public; the 
acceptance of gifts and other things of value; acting in a private 
capacity on matters dealt with as a public official; the use of 
confidential information; and appearances by city officials before 
other city agencies on behalf of private interests. This ordinance 
shall provide for reasonable public disclosure of finances by 
officials with major decision-making authority over monetary 
expenditures and contractual matters and, insofar as permissible 
under state law, shall provide for fines and imprisonment for 
violations. 

42.23 

7.02 Activities Prohibited.   
(1) No person shall be appointed to or removed from, or in any 
way favored or discriminated against with respect to any city 
position or appointive city administrative office because of marital 
status, race, gender, age, handicap, religion, country of origin or 
political affiliation. 

49.60 

(2) No person shall willfully make any false statement, certificate, 
mark, rating or report in regard to any test, certification or 
appointment under the provisions of this charter or the rules and 
regulations made thereunder, or in any manner commit or 
attempt to commit any fraud preventing the impartial execution of 
such provisions, rules and regulations.  

RCW 42.20.040-070—similar but not 
exact same language.  
 
Believe statute governs this section 
(2-3-4)—further research  

(3) No person who seeks appointment or promotion with respect 
to any city position or appointive city administrative office shall 
directly or indirectly give, render or pay any money, service or 
other valuable thing to any person for or in connection with his or 
her test, appointment, proposed appointment, promotion or 
proposed promotion. 

42.20.020; 42.23.070;  

(4) No person shall knowingly or willfully solicit or assist in 
soliciting any assessment, subscription or contribution for any 
political party or political purpose to be used in conjunction with 
any city election from any city employee. 

42.17A 

ARTICLE VIII 
CHARTER AMENDMENT 

 

Section 8.01    Proposal of Amendment  
8.01 Proposal of Amendment.   
Amendments to this Charter may be submitted to the registered 35A.09 and 35A.10 

http://www.codepublishing.com/WA/kelso/html/KelsoCH02.html#8.01


electors by the council or by petition of the electorate in the 
manner provided by the constitution or laws of the state. 
ARTICLE IX 
TRANSITION/SEPARABILITY OF PROVISIONS 

All of these provisions relate to the 
transition to the Charter at the time 
the charter was adopted and 
therefore have limited applicability.  

9.01 Officers and Employees.   
(a) Rights and Privileges Preserved. Nothing in this charter except 
as otherwise specifically provided shall affect or impair the rights 
or privileges of persons who are city officers or employees at the 
time of its adoption. 

 

(b) Continuance of Office or Employment. Except as specifically 
provided by this charter, if at the time this charter takes full effect 
a city administrative officer or employee holds any office or 
position which is or can be abolished by or under this charter, he 
or she shall continue in such office or position until the taking 
effect of some specific provision under this charter directing that 
he or she vacate the office or position. 

 

(c) Personnel System. An employee holding a city position at the 
time this charter takes full effect, who was serving in that same or 
a comparable position at the time of its adoption, shall not be 
subject to competitive tests as a condition of continuance in the 
same position, but in all other respects shall be subject to the 
personnel system provided for in paragraph 4.02. 

 

9.02 Departments, Offices and Agencies.   
(a) Transfer of Powers. If a city department, office or agency is 
abolished by this charter, the powers and duties given it by law 
shall be transferred to the city department, office or agency 
designated in this charter or if the charter makes no provision, 
designated by the city council. 

 

(b) Property and Records. All property, records and equipment of 
any department, office or agency existing when this charter is 
adopted shall be transferred to the department, office or agency 
assuming its powers and duties, but in the event that the powers 
or duties are to be discontinued or divided between units or in the 
event that any conflict arises regarding a transfer, such property, 
records or equipment shall be transferred to one or more 
departments, offices or agencies designated by the city council in 
accordance with this charter. 

 

9.03 Pending Matters.   
All rights, claims, actions, orders, contracts and legal 
administrative proceedings shall continue except as modified 
pursuant to the provisions of this charter and in each case shall be 
maintained, carried on or dealt with by the city department, office 
or agency appropriate under this charter. 

 

9.04 State and Municipal Laws.   
All city ordinances, resolutions, orders, regulations and laws which  



are in force when this charter becomes fully effective are 
superseded to the extent that they are inconsistent with this 
charter. 
9.05 Time of Taking Full Effect.   
The charter shall be in full effect for all purposes on and after the 
date and time of the first meeting of the newly elected city 
council. 

 

9.06 Separability.   
If any provision of this charter is held invalid, the other provisions 
of the charter shall not be affected thereby. If the application of 
the charter or any of its provisions to any person or circumstance 
is held invalid, the application of the charter and its provisions to 
other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

 

 
 

 

http://www.codepublishing.com/WA/kelso/html/KelsoNT.html
http://www.codepublishing.com/WA/kelso/html/KelsoNT.html
http://www.codepublishing.com/WA/kelso/html/Kelso01/Kelso01.html


AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 

 
SUBJECT TITLE:  2016 BUDGET GOALS & 
ACTIONS WORK PLAN 
 
 
  
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager  
 
For Agenda of: _____March 1, 2016_______ 
 
Originator:         Steve Taylor    
 
 
 
City Attorney:     Janean Parker  
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 
Agenda Item Attachments:    
 
Draft 2016 Budget Goals and Actions Work Plan 
2015 Budget Goals - Work Plan Review 
 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
 
Staff presented a review of the 2015 work plan accomplishments and initiatives for 2016 at the February 16th 
regular Council meeting.  Council reviewed the four broad budget goals and discussed priority action items for 
the coming year.  Following up on that discussion, the Draft 2016 Goals and Actions Work Plan is attached for 
review and consideration at the March 1st meeting.  A number of action items from 2015 have been carried 
forward to the 2016 Work Plan recognizing that although progress has been made in the prior period, the 
completion of those action items remains a priority.   
 
Council’s direction on the 2016 actions is requested, and the opportunity is provided to amend, add or remove 
both goals and action items from the work plan.  It is important to note that various items represent multi-
year initiatives or capital improvement projects to which the City is currently committed and must be 
completed regardless of their inclusion within the work plan.  Additionally, the 2015 budget goals below have 
been carried to 2016 without changes. 
 
2016 Proposed Budget GOALS 
 

• Well-maintained, reliable public infrastructure systems that encourage economic growth and 
enhance community quality. 
 

• Community renewal and economic growth that provides sustainable resources for public services and 
facilities. 
 



• Consistent, effective delivery of Kelso city services that meets or exceeds standards of 
professionalism and accountability. 
 

• Provide proactive and visionary regional leadership. 
 
 
OPTIONS: 
 
1) Adopt the 2016 Budget Goals and Actions Work Plan 
2) Provide input and make amendments to the Work Plan prior to adoption on March 1st 
3) Provide input and direct staff to make amendments for consideration at a future meeting 
4) Take no action at this time 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTIONS:  
 
Move to adopt the 2016 Budget Goals and Actions Work Plan 
 
 
 
 



 

March 1, 2016 

 
 

 2016 Budget Goals & Actions Plan 
 

 
Goal:  Well-maintained, reliable public infrastructure systems that encourage economic 
growth and enhance community quality. 
 

• Action:  Advocate for state funding to complete the final phase of the West Main St. 
Realignment Project and to advance environmental clearance for the S. Kelso Grade 
Separation Project. 

• Action:  Deliver 2016 Capital Improvement Program that emphasizes investments in 
pavement preservation, water distribution and sewer collection infrastructure, and 
streetscape improvements. 

• Action:  Conduct parks and recreation needs assessment and master plan to identify and 
delineate future priority investments. 

• Action:  Apply to Safe Routes to Schools Grant Program to fund S. Kelso/Wallace 
Elementary sidewalk program. 

• Action:  Consider proposals for sustainable funding options for street maintenance and 
preservation. 

• Action:  Prepare options for restricting on-street parking in residential zones without 
adequate road width. 

 
Goal:  Community renewal and economic growth that provides sustainable resources for 
public services and facilities. 
 

• Action:  Consider and adopt the complete update of the City’s Development Code and 
Stormwater Management Low Impact Development regulations. 

• Action:  Continue implementation of the Kelso NICER (Neighborhood Improvement & 
Community/Economic Revitalization) Program emphasizing enhanced nuisance and 
condemned housing abatement efforts. 

• Action:  Consider the annexation of S. Kelso unincorporated pockets. 
• Action:  Develop proposals for city wayfinding program in concert with Longview. 
• Action:  Update Downtown Façade Improvement Program and promote participation 

with eligible businesses. 
 

 
Goal:  Consistent, effective delivery of Kelso city services that meets or exceeds standards of 
professionalism and accountability. 
 

• Action:  Present 5-6 year Financial Forecast and draft corresponding department 
business plans. 

• Action:  Negotiate franchise agreements with Public Utility District. 



2 
 

• Action:  Establish formal recruitment and employee onboarding program that develops 
and retains effective staffing in the face of retirements. 

• Action:  Invest in administrative support information systems and public records 
retention/disposition services. 

• Action:  Develop and implement formal risk management program and overhaul the 
City’s general policy manual. 

• Action:  Evaluate feasibility of public safety service enhancements (Traffic unit; 
community policing; targeted enforcement). 

• Action:  Research and evaluate adequate and sustainable funding sources for criminal 
justice/public safety functions. 

 
Goal:  Provide proactive and visionary regional leadership. 
 

• Action:  Continue regional outreach and participation to enhance partnership 
opportunities with public and private sector organizations. 

• Action:  Review city charter and evaluate potential amendments to be brought forward 
for voter consideration. 

• Action:  Lead efforts supporting the development, professional management, and 
improvement of facilities at the SW Washington Regional Airport. 

• Action:  Collaborate with regional partners to promote the development of new housing 
that accommodates the existing and future workforce of Cowlitz County. 

 
 
Auxiliary task list 

• Evaluate criteria for establishing local improvement districts and grant funding to 
address curb, sidewalk, and drainage infrastructure. 

• Addressing blight and encouraging revitalization in West Kelso north of Cowlitz Way. 
• Consider ban on plastic shopping bags at retail stores. 



Approved by Council -- March 3, 2015 

 
 

Review:  2015 Budget Goals & Actions Plan 
 

 
Goal:  Well-maintained, reliable public infrastructure systems that encourage economic 
growth and enhance community quality. 
 

• Action:  Advocate for funding assistance from the state legislature for the replacement 
of the Minor Road Reservoirs. 

o Received $1.5 million legislative appropriation and $4 million DWSRF loan to 
finance the improvements with least impact to ratepayers. 

• Action:  Deliver 2015 Capital Improvement Program that emphasizes investments in 
pavement preservation, water distribution and sewer collection infrastructure, and 
streetscape improvements. 

o Delivered Longview Water Intertie, NW 2nd Avenue Sewer Replacement, Jones 
Road Waterline, Minor & Mt. Brynion Rd Intersection, Talley Way Pavement 
Overlay (phase 1), and Kelso Depot Sidewalk Replacement 

o Finalized financing package and completed design of West Main Revitalization 
Streetscape project  

• Action:  Conduct parks and recreation needs assessment and master plan to identify and 
delineate future priority investments. 

o To be performed in 2016 
• Action:  Research and evaluate adequate and sustainable funding sources for street 

maintenance. 
o Legislature authorized additional Transportation Benefit District local funding 

options 
o Staff is preparing options for issuing bonds for Yew Street & Minor Road projects 

 
Goal:  Community renewal and economic growth that provides sustainable resources for 
public services and facilities. 
 

• Action:  Conduct West Kelso Sub-Area Plan and commence the update and review of 
applicable development regulations. 

o Final draft of Sub-Area Plan is being prepared, along with recommended design 
standards/development regulations. 

• Action:  Draft, review, adopt the complete update of the City’s Development Code. 
o Development regulation overhaul will be brought to Planning Commission and 

Council by Q2 2016 
• Action:  Adopt Shoreline Master Plan Update. 

o Waiting for final sign-off by Ecology for adoption by Council in Q1 2016 
• Action:  Commence implementation of the Kelso NICER (Neighborhood Improvement & 

Community/Economic Revitalization) Program focusing on West Kelso planning efforts 



2 
 

and streetscape improvements in addition to citywide nuisance abatement 
enhancements. 

o West Kelso Sub-Area Plan near completion; West Main St. Revitalization will be 
under construction in Q2-Q3 2016; Full-time nuisance abatement officer on 
board Feb. 1; condemned housing abatement program to be offered 
immediately to applicable property owners. 

• Action:  Commission and complete industrial master planning study and market analysis 
for the proposed Anchor Point Industrial Park. 

o Study is in final review stage and to be delivered for consideration in Q1 2016 
 

 
Goal:  Consistent, effective delivery of Kelso city services that meets or exceeds standards of 
professionalism and accountability. 
 

• Action:  Present 5-6 year Financial Forecast and draft corresponding department 
business plans. 

o Forecast is in final development stages to incorporate all major operational 
funds 

o Staff held performance management retreat to discuss major initiatives and 
department business planning – ongoing business planning efforts slated for 
2016 

• Action:  Negotiate franchise agreements with Public Utility District and Comcast Cable. 
o Council approved Comcast Cable Franchise in Q4 2015; New PUD manager in 

place, staff will re-enter PUD franchise negotiations in 2016 
• Action:  Ensure adequate law enforcement staffing in the wake of pending retirements. 

o Council approved police staffing of Administrative Sergeant and additional patrol 
officer to “hire ahead” of planned and unplanned retirements; 2 new officers 
hired and trained with 3 more positions to fill 

• Action:  Invest in administrative support information systems and public records 
retention/disposition services. 

o Launched Open Budget Kelso application 
o Developing and implementing electronic claims processing for department 

admin assistants 
o Public Records Retention/Disposition services still under evaluation in 2016 

• Action:  Commence overhaul of City’s general policy manual. 
o Project pushed to 2016 

• Action:  Evaluate feasibility of public safety service enhancements (Traffic unit; 
administrative/supervision; community policing; targeted enforcement). 

o Law enforcement focus has been on hiring and training new officers in 2016 
• Action:  Research and evaluate adequate and sustainable funding sources for criminal 

justice/public safety functions. 



3 
 

o Evaluation will occur in 2016. 

 
Goal:  Provide proactive and visionary regional leadership. 
 

• Action:  Continue regional outreach and participation to enhance partnership 
opportunities with public and private sector organizations. 

o Kelso is well-represented on regional boards and commissions 
o Secured partnership with Winter Family, LLC regarding Anchor Point Industrial 

Feasibility Study 
o Continue to employ services from Longview, Cowlitz County, and Fire District 2 

• Action:  Review city charter and evaluate potential amendments to be brought forward 
for voter consideration. 

o Council reviewed the charter amendment and abandonment process as well as 
the areas of the charter that differ from RCW 35A (Optional Municipal Code) 

• Action:  Lead efforts to revise regional fee structure for 911 Emergency 
Communications. 

o City staff led process to amend the interlocal agreement and revise regional fee 
structure – adopted by 911 Council in Q4 2015 

• Action:  Support the effective governance of and infrastructure improvements to the 
SW Washington Regional Airport. 

o City increased funding level for airport operations and capital improvements 
o City assumed management of airport in Jan 2016 and is in process to hire 

permanent Airport Manager. 

 
 
Auxiliary task list 

• Evaluate criteria for establishing local improvement districts and grant funding to 
address curb, sidewalk, and drainage infrastructure. 

• Addressing blight and encouraging revitalization in West Kelso north of Cowlitz Way. 
• Implement city way-finding project to direct residents and tourists to city attractions 

and assets.  (Discussed as possible Big Idea funding project) 
• Action:  Prepare options for restricting on-street parking in residential zones without 

adequate road width. 



 
AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 

Business of the City of Kelso 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE:    
 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO 
AMENDING THE KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE 
CHAPTER 2.32 POLICE DEPARTMENT 
RELATING TO THE AUTHORITY TO APPOINT 
LIMITED COMMISSION POLICE OFFICERS 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  Janean Parker  

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: Police  
 
For Agenda of: March 1, 2016 
 
Cost of Item:  None 
 
City Manager:  Stephen Taylor   
 

 

 
AGENDA ITEM ATTACHMENTS:    
 
Proposed ordinance  
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
 
In an effort to provide additional tools for the efficient and effective code enforcement and nuisance 
abatement program, staff is recommending  that the Council amend the municipal code to specifically 
authorize the appointment of limited commission police officers.  The City Manager or Chief would then 
be authorized grant specific employees these limited commissions.  These appointed employees would 
be authorized to investigate and issue civil infractions and the authority would be limited to only those 
non-criminal laws in the City’s municipal code.   
 
FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 
 
No Impact.  
 
OPTIONS: 
Approve the ordinance as presented; 
Do not approve the ordinance; 
Direct staff to amend the ordinance as may be needed. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
 
Move to approve on first reading the ordinance amending KMC 2.32 relating to the authority to appoint limited 
commission police officers  
 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO.  __________ 
 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO AMENDING THE 
KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 2.32 POLICE DEPARTMENT 
RELATING TO THE AUTHORITY TO APPOINT LIMITED COMMISSION 
POLICE OFFICERS 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has made code enforcement and nuisance abatement a 

priority in the City in an attempt to minimize blight and improve the public health, safety, 

and welfare of citizens; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has amended its municipal code to provide for the issuance of 

civil violations and civil infractions as tools for the enforcement of certain municipal code 

provisions; and 

WHEREAS, the additional time investigating and enforcing these non-criminal 

violations is more efficiently provided by the City’s nuisance abatement department with 

limited commission officers to allow the City’s police department to devote their time to 

more serious offenses; and  

WHEREAS, the City is authorized to appoint such limited commission police 

officers by RCW 35A.11.020; 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KELSO DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1.  That Kelso Municipal Code Chapter 2.32 is hereby amended to add a new 

section 2.32.050 as follows: 

2.32.050. Limited Commission Officers.   The City Manager or his or her designee may 

appoint city employees outside the police department as limited commission law enforcement 

officers with the limited commission to enforce some or all of the non-criminal laws as may be 

specified in the Kelso Municipal Code. These limited commissions may include the authority to 

investigate and issue citations for civil infractions.  The limited commission may be revoked at any 



 2 

time by the City Manager or his or her designee.  The authority conferred upon the limited 

commission law enforcement officers shall not vest any such officer with any police civil service or 

police pension rights.  

 

 SECTION 2.  SEVERABILITY.  The provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be 

severable. If any provision, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application 

thereof to any person, establishment, or circumstances shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not 

affect the other provisions or application of this Ordinance. 

 

 SECTION 3.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect 5 days 

after its passage and publication of summary as required by law. 

  

ADOPTED by the City Council and SIGNED by the Mayor this ____ day of _______ 

___________, 2016. 

       ____________________________________ 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATION:    MAYOR 
 
________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
________________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 
PUBLISHED:_____________________ 



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE:    
 
LED Streetlight Project Fund Transfer  
 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY: 
Brian Butterfield 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: Finance  
 
For Agenda of: March 1, 2016  
 
Cost of Item: $318,690  
 
City Manager: Steve Taylor__________________ 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM ATTACHMENTS:    
 
Project Costs & Energy Savings for Selected Options table 
Ordinance to transfer funds from the Debt Service Fund to the Arterial Street Fund 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
 
In the February 17, 2015 council meeting, council authorized the City Manager to secure a low-cost loan for the 
Citywide LED Streetlight Conversion Project. The City Manager proposes to internally fund the City’s portion 
of the project with the Debt Service Fund. The project will cost $511,956 and construction is more than 80% 
complete. The City’s portion of the project is $318,690 with the remainder being funded by a Department of 
Commerce grant and a Cowlitz PUD utility incentive.  
 
 
FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 
 
The project is budget neutral and attached is the post-audit summary on project costs. Repayment of the loan is 
made from cost savings due to lower energy use by the LED streetlights. This does not include savings due to 
lower maintenance costs. Annual savings are estimated at $32,571. This amount is based on a 10-year financing 
term at 3.0% interest rate and includes an annual rate of energy increases at 1.5%.  
 
The interest rate on the loan will be based on the rate set by the Local Government Investment Pool.  An amount 
not to exceed $320,000 is proposed to be transferred from the Debt Service Fund to the Arterial Street Fund. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
 
City staff recommends that council move to approve the ordinance to authorize the transfer of funds from the 
Debt Service Fund to the Arterial Street Fund for the Citywide LED Streetlight Conversion Project.  
 



 



 1

ORDINANCE NO.  __________ 
 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO AUTHORIZING THE 
TRANSFER OF FUNDS FROM THE DEBT SERVICE FUND TO THE 
ARTERIAL STREET FUND AND PROVIDING FOR THE REPAYMENT OF 
SUCH LOAN 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the City finds that certain monies need to be expended from said Arterial Street 

Fund to partially cover the “Citywide LED Streetlight Conversion Project” construction 

expenditures for 2016; and 

 WHEREAS, the City estimates annual savings from the completion of the project of 

approximately $35,500 and said funds will meet amortized payment of such; and 

 WHEREAS, the City desires to transfer monies from the Debt Service Fund to the Arterial 

Street Fund to cover said expenditures with the intent of repaying the Debt Service Fund for a period of 

ten years;  

NOW, THEREFORE, 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KELSO DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 SECTION 1  That the City is authorized to transfer the sum of not more than $320,000 from 

the Debt Service Fund to the Arterial Street Fund to cover expenditures for 2016.   

 SECTION 2  That the City agrees to repay the Debt Service Fund in full from monies the 

City will receive from Street Lights – Power & Maintenance savings. Interest shall be charged on said 

loan at the rate set by the Local Government Invest Pool (LGIP).   

 SECTION 3  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect 5 days after its passage and 

publication of summary as required by law.  

 

 



 2

 

ADOPTED by the City Council and SIGNED by the Mayor this 1st day of  March, 2016. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATION:    MAYOR 
 
________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
________________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 
PUBLISHED:   


	1. - 2016-03-01
	1.1. - 2016-02-16
	4.1. - Ag Sum - Rural Public Funds  2.22.16
	4.1.1. - 20160225134348987
	4.2. - Ag Sum - Mineral Exploration Resolution discussion 03012016
	4.2.1. - 2006-923 - Kelso Resolution (1)
	4.2.2. - 20160226144356481
	4.2.3. - LV Council Meeting Minutes  (presentations) 09_13_2007 (2)
	4.3. - Ag Sum - Shopping Carts Followup discussion 03012016
	4.3.1. -  - Ord Shopping Carts 10202015 (2)
	4.4. - Ag Sum - City Charter Review Discussion 3.1.16
	4.4.1. - Memo re Charter questions Final
	To:    Steve Taylor, City Manager
	2.02 Composition, Eligibility, Election and Terms.


	4.4.2. -CITY OF KELSO CHARTER--statutory comparison 2-17-16
	4.5. - Ag Sum - 2016 Goals and Actions Work Plan 03012016
	4.5.1. - 2016 Budget Goals - Work Plan DRAFT 03012016
	4.5.2. - 2015 Budget Goals-Work Plan Review 01212016
	5.1. - AgSu for Limited commission ordinance.
	5.1.1. - Limited Commission Ordinance
	5.2. - I.F. loan from 206 to 102
	5.2.1. - ORDINANCE I.F

